

Mechanisms and Molecular Regulation of Mammalian Tooth Replacement

ELINA JÄRVINEN

Institute of Biotechnology Developmental Biology Programme and Division of Genetics Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Faculty of Biosciences and Helsinki Graduate School in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology University of Helsinki

Dissertationes bioscientiarum molecularium Universitatis Helsingiensis in Viikki

12/2008

Mechanisms and Molecular Regulation of Mammalian Tooth Replacement

Elina Järvinen

Institute of Biotechnology Developmental Biology Programme and Division of Genetics Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Faculty of Biosciences and Helsinki Graduate School in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology University of Helsinki

Academic Dissertation

To be presented for public criticism, with the permission of the Faculty of Biosciences of the University of Helsinki, in auditorium 1041 at Viikki Biocenter (Viikinkaari 5, Helsinki) on April 11th 2008, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2008

Supervised by: Professor Irma Thesleff Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland

and

Professor Jukka Jernvall Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by: Professor David Rice University of Helsinki, Finland and Docent Kirsi Sainio University of Helsinki, Finland

Opponent: Professor Ann Huysseune Ghent University, Belgium

Edita Prima Oy

Helsinki, 2008

There is no road to happiness, happiness is the road. – Buddha

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

ABBREVIATIONS

SUMMARY

1.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	1
	1.1 Developmental biology as a research field	1
	1.2 Developmental biology and its relation to evolutionary biology	1
	1.3 Development of ectodermal organs	2
	1.4 Signaling molecules directing development	2
	1.4.1 Wnt signaling	2
	1.4.1.1 β-catenin dependent pathway	4
	1.4.2 Other signaling pathways	5
	1.4.2.1 Hedgehog	5
	1.4.2.2 TGF-β superfamily	5
	1.4.2.3 Ectodysplasin signaling	6
	1.4.2.4 Fibroblast growth factor signaling	6
	1.4.2.5 Notch signaling	7
	1.5 Tooth development	7
	1.5.1 Initiation	8
	1.5.2 The enamel knot and morphogenesis	8
	1.5.3 Formation of dental hard tissues	9
	1.5.4 Wnt signaling in tooth development	9
	1.6 Tooth development in non-mammalian vertebrates	10
	1.6.1 Mechanism of tooth replacement in non-mammalian vertebrates	10
	1.7. Tooth development in mammals	12
	1.7.1 Tooth replacement in mammals	12
	1.7.2 Diphyodonty in mammals	13
	1.7.3 Variable tooth replacement patterns	14
	1.7.4 Continuously growing mouse incisor	15
	1.8 Mutations affecting tooth number and tooth renewal in humans	16
	1.8.1. Mutations causing supernumerary teeth	16
	1.8.2. Mutations causing missing teeth	16
	1.8.3 Ectodermal dysplasias with tooth phenotypes	17

2.	AIMS OF THE STUDY	20
3.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	21 21 21 21
4.	 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	22 22 23 25 27
5.	CONCLUDING REMARKS	30
A	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	32
RF	EFERENCES	33

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I James MJ, **Järvinen** E, Wang XP, Thesleff I. (2006) Different roles of Runx2 during early neural crest-derived bone and tooth development. *J Bone Miner Res.*21:1034-44.
- **II Järvinen E**, Salazar-Ciudad I, Birchmeier W, Taketo MM, Jernvall J, Thesleff I. (2006) Continuous tooth generation in mouse is induced by activated epithelial Wnt/β -catenin signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103:18627-32.
- **III Järvinen E**, Välimäki K, Pummila M, Thesleff I, Jernvall J. The taming of the shrew milk teeth. *Evol Dev.* In Press.
- **IV Järvinen E**, Tummers M, Thesleff I. Formation of tooth placodes and mechanisms of tooth replacement in the ferret *Mustela putorius furo*. Manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

BC	Before Christ
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
BMPR	Bone morphogenetic protein receptor
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
Dkk	Dickkopf
Dlx	Vertebrate homologue of Drosophila distal-less gene
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
Dspp	Dentin sialoprotein
E	Embryonic day
EDA	Ectodermal dysplasia, anhidrotic
Eda	Ectodysplasin
Edar	Ectodyspasin receptor
EEC	Ectrodactyly, ectodermal dysplasia and cleft/lip palate syndrome
FAP	Adenomatous polyposis
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
GIS	Geographic information system
Gli	Vertebrate homologue of Drosophila cubitus interruptus gene
HED	Hypohidrotic ectodermal dysplasia
Hh	Hedgehog
Hox	Homebox
K14	Keratin 14
KO	Knockout
Lef1	Lymphoid enhancer factor 1
LRP	Lipoprotein receptor
Msx	Vertebrate homologue of Drosophila muscle segment (Msh) gene
M1	1 st molar
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kapha B
Pax	Paired-like homeobox
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PCP	Planar polarity pathway
Pitx2	Pituitary homeobox 2
PN	Post natal
Ptc	Patched
Smad	Vertebrate homologue of the Drosophila mother against
	decapentaplegic (MAD) gene
Smo	Smoothened
Shh	Sonic hedgehog
TG	Transgenic
TGF - β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
Tcf	T-cell specific transcription factor
Wnt	Wnt-family member

SUMMARY

In most non-mammalian vertebrates, such as fish and reptiles, teeth are replaced continuously. However, tooth replacement in most mammals, including human, takes place only once and further renewal is apparently inhibited. It is not known how tooth replacement is genetically regulated, and little is known on the physiological mechanism and evolutionary reduction of tooth replacement in mammals. In this study I have attempted to address these questions.

In a rare human condition cleidocranial dysplasia, caused by a mutation in a Runt domain transcription factor *Runx2*, tooth replacement is continued. *Runx2* mutant mice were used to investigate the molecular mechanisms of Runx2 function. Microarray analysis from dissected embryonic day 14 *Runx2* mutant and wild type dental mesenchymes revealed many downstream targets of *Runx2*, which were validated using *in situ* hybridization and tissue culture methods. Wnt signaling inhibitor *Dkk1* was identified as a candidate target, and in tissue culture conditions it was shown that *Dkk1* is induced by FGF4 and this induction is *Runx2* dependent. These experiments demonstrated a connection between *Runx2*, FGF and Wnt signaling in tooth development and possibly also in tooth replacement.

The role of Wnt signaling in tooth replacement was further investigated by using a transgenic mouse model where Wnt signaling mediator β -catenin is continuously stabilized in dental epithelium. This stabilization led to activated Wnt signaling and to the formation of multiple enamel knots. *In vitro* and transplantation experiments were performed to examine the process of extra tooth formation. We showed that new teeth were continuously generated and that new teeth form from pre-existing teeth. A morphodynamic activator-inhibitor model was used to simulate enamel knot formation. By increasing the intrinsic production rate of the activator (β -catenin), the multiple enamel knot phenotype was reproduced by computer simulations. It was thus concluded that β -catenin acts as an upstream activator of enamel knots, closely linking Wnt signaling to the regulation of tooth renewal.

As mice do not normally replace teeth, we used other model animals to investigate the physiological and genetic mechanisms of tooth replacement. *Sorex araneus*, the common shrew was earlier reported to have non-functional tooth replacement in all antemolar tooth positions. We showed by histological and gene expression studies that there is tooth replacement only in one position, the premolar 4 and that the deciduous tooth is diminished in size and disappears during embryogenesis without becoming functional. The growth rates of deciduous and permanent premolar 4 were measured and it was shown by competence inference that the early initiation of the replacement tooth in relation to the developmental stage of the deciduous tooth led to the inhibition of deciduous tooth morphogenesis. It was concluded that the evolutionary loss of deciduous teeth may involve the early activation of replacement teeth, which in turn suppress their predecessors.

Mustela putorius furo, the ferret, has a dentition that resembles that of the human as ferrets have teeth that belong to all four tooth families, and all the antemolar teeth are replaced once. To investigate the replacement mechanism, histological serial sections from different embryonic stages were analyzed. It was noticed that tooth replacement is a

process which involves the growth and detachment of the dental lamina from the lingual cervical loop of the deciduous tooth. Detachment of the deciduous tooth leads to a free successional dental lamina, which grows deeper into the mesenchyme, and later buds the replacement tooth. A careful 3D analysis of serial histological sections was performed and it was shown that replacement teeth are initiated from the successional dental lamina and not from the epithelium of the deciduous tooth. The molecular regulation of tooth replacement was studied and it was shown by examination of expression patterns of candidate regulatory genes that BMP/Wnt inhibitor *Sostdc1* was strongly expressed in the buccal aspect of the dental lamina, and in the intersection between the detaching deciduous tooth and the successional dental lamina, suggesting a role for *Sostdc1* in the process of detachment. *Shh* was expressed in the enamel knot and in the inner enamel epithelium in both generations of teeth supporting the view that the morphogenesis of both generations of teeth is regulated by similar mechanisms.

In summary, histological and molecular studies on different model animals and transgenic mouse models were used to investigate tooth replacement. This thesis work has significantly contributed to the knowledge on the physiological mechanisms and molecular regulation of tooth replacement and its evolutionary suppression in mammals.

1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1. Developmental biology as a research field

In history there have been two dominating theories of how an organism gets its form, the epigenetic and the preformistic view. The epigenetic hypothesis was first introduced 400 BC by Aristoteles, who had anticipated that the organs of an embryo are developed de novo at each generation. However, the epigenetic theory was forgotten in favor of the preformistic hypothesis for almost two thousand years due to the prevailing religious, philosophic and scientific views. As late as in the 1800-century the preformists believed that all humans were inside the germ cells as small fully developed beings called the homunculus, and development was merely growth of existing structures, created by god in the beginning of time. During the 19th century comparative embryology, based on observation and description, produced detailed information of the development of embryos in different species, and it was understood that development proceeds gradually. It was also noticed by Ernst Häckel that the early development of different vertebrates resemble each other. Charles Darwin published 1859 in the book On the Origin of Species by Means of Natural Selection, or the Preservation of Favoured Races in the Struggle for Life the theory of evolution, where he proposed that different animal species have been developed and changed through natural selection during millions of years. Yet the driving force of development and evolution remained a mystery for a long time. Gregor Mendel, an Austrian monk experimented on peas and formulated in 1866 the theory of transmissible factors that are responsible for inheritance of traits. It was the discovery of a predictable mechanism by which inherited characteristics are transmitted from parents to offspring. His work was revolutionary for the times and remained unrecognized for decades. It was rediscovered only in the early 1900s. W.H Sutton anticipated that Mendel's factors recide in chromosomes and T.H. Morgan showed with his experiments on Drosophila melanogaster, the fruit fly, that chromosomes are the vehicles of inheritance. W.H. Sutton advanced the notion that only a small part "an inheritance unit" of a chromosome is responsible for one specific trait. During 1920s it was understood that genes are involved in heredity and that genes are composed of deoxyribonucleic acid. In 1953 Watson and Crick published the model of DNA and how it is replicating itself. However, only in the 1970s it was discerned that genes are involved not only in the generation but also the processing of information: the development and the idea of genetic causal sequences was applied to animal developmental biology (Gilbert 2006; Martinez and Stewart 2002; Alcamo 1996; Wilkins 2002).

Today, in the post-genome era, as the sequence of human genome and the genomes of many other species have been revealed, it has been learned that the number of genes in different mammalian species are very similar. This raises the question: If the number of genes and their actions in development are similar e.g. in mouse and human, what makes us so different?

1.2 Developmental biology and its relation to evolutionary biology

Evolutionary developmental biology is a relatively new scientific field originated in the 1990s. It combines developmental biology and genetics with evolutionary biology and paleontology. The key finding that led to the generation and increasing importance of

this new field was in the 1980s when the Homeobox (Hox) genes were discovered. The Homeobox is a cluster of genes required for setting segmental identities. Hox genes are found in all eukaryotic phyla from yeast to humans. Interestingly the chromosomal order of Hox genes in the genome relates to the spatial order of the expression of the genes in the antero-posterior axis in the developing embryo. This is true for both non-vertebrates and vertebrates (Graham et al. 1989; Duboule and Dolle 1989). These findings showed that all animals share key underlying genes that pattern their embryos. Moreover, it shows that the genes that regulate development have changed only little during evolution. This leads to the questions: What have been the changes in development that create so many different kinds of animals? How is embryonic development changed through the evolutionary changes? Are some evolutionary changes more common than others? Evolutionary developmental biology is trying to find answers to these questions. The aim of evolutionary developmental biology is to trace the mechanisms, processes and events that have generated the diversity of animal forms. Recent findings indicate that the changes in evolution are often driven by small changes in the dynamics of developmental processes (Kavanagh et al. 2007; Kangas et al. 2004).



Figure 1. Ectodermal organs and their early development.

1.3 Development of ectodermal organs

Ectodermal organs are a group of organs that are developed from the outer layer of the embryo, the ectoderm, which is formed during vertebrate gastrulation. Ectodermal organs include hairs, teeth, nails, mammary glands, sweat glands, salivary glands, sebaceous glands, feathers, scales, beak and horns. All ectodermal organs share similar early development (Figure 1.). The ectodermally derived epithelium and the underlying mesenchyme interact through reciprocal signaling. The first sign of the developing organ is an epithelial thickening, a placode, which invaginates (or evaginates) into the mesenhcyme. Also the signals regulating the initiation of all ectodermal organs are similar (Pispa and Thesleff 2003).

1.4 Signaling molecules directing development

Development in different organs is directed using a very similar molecular system. There are several signaling molecule families. These signaling pathways are conserved throughout the animal phyla. The same genes that regulate the development of the fruit fly also regulate the development of vertebrates. A signaling pathway consists of soluble ligands, cell membrane receptors, intracellular signaling factors, transcription factors, co-factors and antagonists. These molecule families are named after soluble growth factors that can mediate signals even through multiple cell layers, for short distances or long distances. The growth factors are placed into families, according to their genetic and protein structure similarities. The growth factor signal binds the receptor on the cell surface in the recipient cell and an intracellular transduction cascade is set about that ends up in the cell nucleus where the target genes are activated. It is a common feature that the signaling pathway members, including the antagonists, are regulated by the same family in an autoregulatory fashion.

1.4.1 Wnt signaling

Wnt signaling has been indicated to have a role in embryonic induction, generation of cell polarity, specification of cell fate, tumorigenesis, cell proliferation, migration, cell differentiation and homeostatic self-renewal in adult tissues (Logan and Nusse 2004; Clevers 2006). In ectodermal organs Wnts have been shown to be involved in initiation of tooth, mammary and whisker placodes (van Genderen et al. 1994; Andl et al. 2002), and in feather placode induction (Noramly et al. 1999), in hair placode patterning and initiation of placode formation (Zhou et al. 1995; Gat et al. 1998; Huelsken et al. 2001; Närhi et al. 2001). Wnt signaling has been connected with ectodermally derived cancers such as skin and hair follicle tumours (Gat et al. 1998; Niemann et al. 2002; Lo et al. 2004). I will discuss the role of Wnt signaling in tooth development later.

Wnts are thought to act as morphogens i.e. importing long range signals whose activities are concentration dependent (Wodarz and Nusse 1998). In mammals all together 21 cysteine rich glycoprotein Wnt ligands and 11 Frizzled receptors with seven transmembrane domains are known today. A single Wnt ligand can bind multiple receptors. The binding of the ligand involves co-receptors Lrp5 and Lrp6. Both the Frizzled and Lrp5/6 receptors are needed for the activation of the pathway. Secreted Dickkopf proteins inhibit Wnt signaling by directly binding to Lrp5/6 (Logan and Nusse 2004; Clevers 2006).

Wnt signaling can be divided into two categories, based on the ability of the Wnt ligands to activate different intracellular pathways, namely the β -catenin dependent signaling and the non- β -catenin dependend signaling. The non- β -catenin dependend signaling can be divided further into the planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway and theWnt/Ca²⁺ pathway. The PCP signaling is a common mechanism for cellular polarization and has a role in the eye and wing development of *Drosophila* (Jenny and Mlodzik 2006). It has also been shown to play a role in carcinogenesis in human (Katoh 2005). TheWnt/Ca²⁺ pathway has been shown to have a role in early embryonic induction and left-right axis determination, neural induction and somite formation (Slusarski and Pelegri 2007).

1.4.1.1 β-catenin dependent pathway

 β -catenin dependent pathway has been implicated to have a role in most cellular processes during development, tissue self-renewal and cancer (Clevers 2006). The pathway consists of the Frizzed receptor, Lrp5/6 co-receptor complex, cytoplasmic protein Dishevelled, as well as the cytoplasmic destruction complex of GSK-3, APC, Axin and β -catenin. In the absence of a Wnt ligand, the destruction complex binds β -catenin, β catenin is phosphorylated and targeted to destruction by a proteasome. In the presence of a Wnt ligand activation of the pathway involves the recruitment of Dishevelled to the cell membrane, which in turn acts upstream of GSK-3 and β -catenin. Co-receptor Lrp5/6 interacts with Axin, which functions as a scaffold protein, interacting directly with GSK-3, β -catenin and APC, members of the cytoplasmic destruction complex. The Axin-GSK-3-APC destruction complex is thus recruited to the cell membrane, β -catenin is stabilized and transported to the nucleus where it binds to Lef/Tcf transcription factors



Figure 2. β -catenin dependent pathway. A) When Wnt ligand is not present, β -catenin is degraded. B) When Wnt ligand binds to the Frizzled and Lrp receptor complex, β -catenin goes into nucleus and activates target genes.

and activates the target genes (Figure 2.). There are two members in the Axin family, Axin1 and Axin2. It has been shown that Axin2 is a negative regulator of Wnt signaling and that Wnt/ β -catenin/Tcf signaling induces the transcription of *Axin2* (Jho et al. 2002). *Axin2* RNA expression is thus an indicator of active Wnt signaling. β -catenin has a dual role in the cell. In addition to the signaling function, β -catenin also binds E-cadherin, and functions in cell adhesion on the cell plasma membrane (Takeichi 1995; Brembeck et al. 2006).

1.4.2 Other signaling pathways

Other signaling pathways include Hedgehog, TGF- β , Ectodysplasin, FGF and Notch signaling pathways. I will introduce their mode of action briefly and give a few examples of their functions specifically in ectodermal organ development.

1.4.2.1 Hedgehog

Hedgehog proteins have a central role in the development of most organs e.g. the central nervous system, the circulatory system, myogenesis, limb development, and in the formation of face and head (McMahon et al. 2003). There are three ligands in vertebrates, Sonic hedgehog (Shh), Indian hedgehog and Desert Hedgehog. Shh signals through a receptor complex that includes Patched (Ptc) and Smoothened (Smo). The binding of Shh to the receptor Ptc, releases Ptc repression of Smo. Smo activates its intracellular targets including Gli family zinc finger transcription factors. In other words, the receptor Ptc represses the pathway when the ligand is not present. Shh plays a central role in the formation of most ectodermal organs. Shh is the only hedgehog ligand expressed during tooth development and it acts as a long range signal, affecting both epithelium and mesenchyme (Hardcastle et al. 1998; Dassule et al. 2000). Shh is a late placodal marker and disruption of Shh signaling in the early stages of tooth development does not affect the initiation (Hardcastle et al. 1998). Conditional deletion of Shh in the dental epithelium under K14 promoter leads to small and abnormally shaped teeth, where the lingual cervical loop and the dental cord are missing (Dassule et al. 2000). Shh thus regulates the growth and shape of the tooth. When Shh is deleted only in dental epithelium by K14-Smo approach, teeth have disrupted morphology, and epithelial cells have defects in proliferation, growth, differentiation and polarization (Gritli-Linde et al. 2002). Hair placodes are initiated but hair follicle growth is blocked in Shh null allele skin (Chiang et al. 1999). Shh has been shown to be involved in feather formation (Chuong et al. 2000). However, Shh is not needed for mammary placode formation (Gallego et al. 2002; Michno et al. 2003), but repression of hedgehog signaling is required for normal mammary gland development (Hatsell and Cowin 2006).

1.4.2.2 TGF-β superfamily

TGF- β signaling has been implicated to affect embryonic patterning and tissue homeostasis. The superfamily consists of three subfamilies which are TGF- β , BMP and Activin/Inhibins. They all bind to cell surface type I and II serine-threonine kinase receptors. After ligand binding, the type II receptors phosphorylate type I receptors, which then bind and phosphorylate cytoplasmic Smad proteins. Smad proteins mediate the signals into the nucleus and activate the target genes (Massague and Wotton 2000; Balemans and Van Hul 2002). BMP signals are mediated by Smad 1, 5, and 8. TGF- β and Activin signals are mediated by Smad2 and Smad3.

In ectodermal organs BMP signaling has been associated with lateral inhibition of hair follicles and in the initiation of tooth development. Inhibition of BMP signaling in the dental epithelium leads to changes in number, size and shape of teeth (Plikus et al. 2005). BMP releasing beads inhibit hair and feather follicle formation (Botchkarev et al. 1999; Jung et al. 1998). Ectopic expression of BMP or constitutive active Bmpr1 in chick skin disrupts feather formation (Noramly and Morgan 1998; Ashique et al. 2002). Activin has been shown to be essential for the initiation of incisors and lower molars (Ferguson et al. 1998). Follistatin, an Activin and BMP inhibitor, has been shown to be important in morphogenesis of molars (Wang et al. 2004a). Tooth morphology and cusp patterning are disturbed in molars when the function of the BMP inhibitor Sostdc1 (Ectodin, Wise) is knocked out (Kassai et al. 2005).

1.4.2.3 Ectodysplasin signaling

Ectodysplasin (Eda) belongs to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) signaling molecule family. Other members of the TNF family are involved in host defence, immunity and inflammation and specifically function in cell survival and apoptosis. Eda is the first TNF family member implicated in ectodermal organ development (Headon and Overbeek 1999: Mikkola et al. 1999). It has a function in initiation, morphogenesis and differentiation of ectodermal organs. The ligand Eda signals through its receptor Edar, and the downstream effects of Edar are mediated through the transcription factor NF-KB (Mikkola 2007). The receptor Edar is one of the earliest markers of ectodermal placode formation and it has been indicated that it is also a potent stimulator of placode formation (Laurikkala et al. 2002). The ligand Eda is an early regulator of placodes thought to act downstream of the inductive signal. Mouse mutants of Eda and Edar have defects in hair, tooth, mammary glands and sweat glands (Mikkola 2007). Overexpression of Eda under the K14 promoter in the ectoderm leads to ectopic teeth and mammary glands, stimulation of hair and nail growth, and increased activity of sweat glands (Mustonen et al. 2003; Mustonen et al. 2004). It has been shown by in vitro experiments that Eda regulates hair follicle fate in a dose dependent manner (Pummila et al. 2007). Ectodysplasin signaling is evolutionary conserved in ectodermal organ development. It has been shown that the loss of Edar leads to complete loss of scales in teleost fish (Kondo et al. 2001).

1.4.2.4 Fibroblast growth factor signaling

FGF signaling has been implicated in proliferation, cell survival, differentiation, adhesion and migration (Szebenyi and Fallon 1999). Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family consists of 23 ligands in mammals. Signaling is mediated through a family of tyrosine kinase transmembrane receptors. Four receptors Fgfr1, 2, 3, 4 with multiple isoforms are identified. Ligand binding of FGF receptors depends on the presence of heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG), which act as low affinity FGF co-receptors regulating the diffusion of FGF proteins, and is essential for the formation of active FGF/ FGF receptor signaling complex (Ornitz 2000). In ectodermal organs FGF signaling has been implicated in hair, tooth and feather development. Loss of FGF signaling leads to arrest of hair, tooth, mammary gland and feather development. *Fgfr2b* null allele mice

have dysgenic hair formation, and an arrest of tooth development at an early stage (De Moerlooze et al. 2000). FGF2 can induce feathers in chick (Song et al. 1996; Widelitz et al. 1996). FGF10 is required for feather initiation as an early dermal signal (Mandler and Neubuser 2004). Sprouty genes are intracellular inhibitors of FGF signaling (Hacohen et al. 1998). Loss of Sprouty genes leads to the formation of an extra tooth and tooth shape defects in mice (Klein et al. 2006).

1.4.2.5 Notch signaling

Notch signaling was first found in Drosophila and has been implicated in lateral inhibition mechanisms, asymmetric cell fate assignation, in boundary formation and lineage decisions in stem cells (Bray 2006; Fiuza and Arias 2007). Notch family of signaling molecules consists of cell membrane receptors that mediate short-range signaling between neighboring cells. In mammals three membrane bound ligands Jagged1, Jagged-2 and Delta1, and three receptors Notch1, 2, 3, and intracellular modulator Lunatic fringe, and target genes including transcription factors of the Hes family has been shown to play a role in ectodermal organ development. It has been suggested that Notch signaling plays a role in the determination of odontoblasts and ameloblasts and in the morphogenesis of molars (Mitsiadis et al. 1998; Mitsiadis et al. 2005), and also in maintenance of epithelial stem cell niche in the continuously growing mouse incisors (Harada et al. 1999), and in hair follicle maintenance (Estrach et al. 2006). Notch signaling has been shown to be involved in establishing the A-P asymmetry of feather buds in chick (Chen et al. 1997).

1.5 Tooth development

Teeth develop from the oral ectoderm and the underlying neural crest derived mesenchyme. Neural crest cells originate at the dorsalmost region of the neural tube. They migrate into the first branchial arch where they take part e.g. in the formation of the bones and cartilage of the head, and of teeth. The early tooth development can be divided into four main stages: initiation, morphogenesis, differentiation of the tooth type cells, and secretion of dentine and enamel matrices (Figure 3.). Today there are over 300 genes known to regulate tooth development (http://bite-it.helsinki.fi). Most of them belong to the signaling molecule families. Tooth development and its molecular regulation have been studied mostly in the mouse (Thesleff 2003).



Figure 3. Stages of tooth development.

1.5.1 Initiation

The first morphological sign of tooth development is the formation of the primary epithelial band, a horse-shoe shaped epithelial thickening on the oral ectoderm. In mouse this takes place at embryonic day 11 (E11). It defines the tooth forming region as teeth develop only along this structure. One of the earliest known dental markers is *Pitx2*, which is expressed in the epithelium of the future primary epithelial band, in mouse already at E8.5 (Mucchielli et al. 1997). Shh and Lefl expression is detected at the primary epithelial band at E11. The expression of Shh, Pitx2 and Lef1 are downregulated and become restricted to the tooth placodes at E12. Tooth placodes form at incisor and molar areas. The placodes form by reciprocal signaling between the epithelium and mesenchyme. Early signaling centers in the placodes express multiple signals from all signaling molecule families. These early signaling centers have a regulatory role in tooth initiation and morphogenesis (Thesleff 2003). Tissue recombination experiments have shown that the first inductive signal comes from the epithelium and after the early signaling centers form at E12, the induction switches to the mesencyme (Mina and Kollar 1987; Lumsden 1988). It has been shown that the mesenchyme defines the tooth identities (Kollar and Baird 1970), but the molecular signals are not known. It has been suggested that Hox genes may play a role in the tooth identity specification (Thomas and Sharpe 1998), but this has not been proven experimentally. The placode development involves the integration of all signaling pathways (Laurikkala et al. 2006).

1.5.2 The enamel knot and morphogenesis

As tooth development proceeds, the early tooth bud grows down into the mesenchyme. At the late bud stage (at E13 in the mouse) a signaling center called the enamel knot forms at the tip of the bud (Jernvall et al. 1994; Butler 1956). It has been shown by *in situ* hybridization that the non-dividing cells of the enamel express multiple signals that belong to all signaling molecule families (Thesleff 2003). There are over 50 genes known to be transcriptionally active in the enamel knot. There are molecules that belong to the BMP, FGF, Shh and Wnt signaling families (http://bite-it.helsinki. fi). The molecular signals from the enamel knot direct the morhogenesis of the tooth (Figure 3.). Surrounding cells proliferate and the flanking epithelium grows deeper into the mesenchyme forming the cervical loops. Mesenchymal cells that are surrounded by the cervical loops form the dental papilla. There are multiple transgenic mouse models where tooth development is stopped at the bud stage and no enamel knot is formed, indicating the importance of this step in tooth development (Peters et al. 1998; D'Souza et al. 1999; van Genderen et al. 1994; Chen et al. 1996). The enamel knot is a transient structure, which is removed by apoptosis (Vaahtokari et al. 1996). After the removal of the primary enamel knot the morphogenesis proceeds and at the bell stage the secondary enamel knots form, which define the places for the future cusps. Thus this makes the bell stage important for development of the final shape of the tooth crown and enables the formation of teeth with multiple cusps (Jernvall et al. 2000). Disruption of the BMP, Eda or FGF signaling pathways leads to malformed cusp patterns (Kassai et al. 2005; Klein et al. 2006; Kangas et al. 2004).

By mathematical modeling an activator-inhibitor loop has been shown to result in the formation of enamel knots and to account for some aspects in the development and evolution of teeth. The activator-inhibitor concentration gradients reproduce the patterns of expression of known genes, the nested patterns around the knots, activation of enamel knot formation and the sequence of enamel knot formation. Changes in the activator-inhibitor balance lead to variable cusp patterns and tooth shapes in different species (Salazar-Ciudad and Jernvall 2002).

1.5.3 Formation of dental hard tissues

Differentiation of tooth specific cells, the odontoblasts and ameloblasts, is initiated during the bell stage at the secondary enamel knots and proceeds in cervical direction. In the mesenchyme the cells next to the epithelium differentiate into pre-odontoblasts and odontoblasts. The odontoblasts start to secrete predentin which later mineralizes into dentin. In the inner enamel epithelium, the epithelial cells differentiate to pre-ameloblasts and ameloblasts, which later start to secrete extracellular matrices of enamel (Figure 3.). Roots are formed after the completion of crown development. The mesenchymal dental follicle cells differentiate into cementoblasts, which secrete bone-like cementum, which covers the root. The surrounding dental follicle forms the periodontal ligament that links the tooth with alveolar bone. Teeth erupt into oral cavity after birth (Nanci 2007).

1.5.4 Wnt signaling in tooth development

Seven Wnt ligands have been reported to be expressed in developing teeth, including Wnt3, Wnt4, Wnt5a, Wnt6, Wnt7b, Wnt10a and Wnt10b. Wnt ligands are expressed mainly in dental epithelium at all stages from initiation to the late morphogenesis (E12-E17). During the initiation Wnt10a and Wnt10b are expressed in the early signaling centers and later in the primary and secondary enamel knots. Wnt3 and Wnt7b are expressed in the flanking oral ectoderm of the early signaling centers (Dassule and McMahon 1998; Sarkar and Sharpe 1999). Wnt4, Wnt6 are expressed in oral epithelium during initiation and morphogenesis (Sarkar and Sharpe 1999). These expression patterns suggest that the role of Wnts is solely in the epithelium. Wnt5a is the only Wnt ligand known to be expressed in dental mesenchyme. However, Wnt5a has a dualistic role in Wnt signaling. Wnt5a is shown to activate both β -catenin dependent and non-dependent pathways, which are sometimes shown to antagonise each other (Liu et al. 2005). It has been shown in cell culture experiments that Wnt5a protein activates or inhibits βcatenin/Tcf signaling depending on the receptor context (Mikels and Nusse 2006). Thus as there is no experimental evidence, it is only speculation whether the role Wnt5a is to activate or inhibit Wnt signaling in dental mesenchyme.

Of the Frizzled receptors *MFz6* has been detected in the oral epithelium, enamel knot and outer dental epithelium. *MFz3* and *MFz4* are detected in presumptive dental mesenchyme at E11.5. Wnt antagonists *MFrzb1* and *Mfrp2* have been detected in dental mesenchyme (Sarkar and Sharpe 1999). Of soluble Wnt antagonists, *Dkk1* is expressed in dental mesenchyme, *Dkk2* in dental papilla and *Dkk3* in enamel knots (Fjeld et al. 2005).

None of the investigated *Wnt* null allele mice (*Wnt1, 2, 3, 3a, 4, 5a, 7a*) have a reported tooth phenotype, possibly because of redundancy of the ligands. Transgenic mice approach has revealed some information on the role of Wnt signaling in the initiation of tooth development. *Lef1* deficient mice have arrested tooth development at the bud stage (van Genderen et al. 1994). This phenotype was rescued by FGF4 (Kratochwil et al. 2002), indicating that the Wnt and FGF pathways interact. Overexpression of Dkk1 in

oral epithelium leads to the arrest of tooth development at the early bud stage (Andl et al. 2002). Wnt signaling has been implied to the differentiation of dental cell types. Wnt10a has been suggested to link the differentiation of odontoblasts and cusp morphogenesis (Yamashiro et al. 2007).

1.6 Tooth development in non-mammalian vertebrates

Non-mammalian vertebrates, fish, amphibians and reptiles are homodont i.e. all teeth share the same tooth shape of simple conical teeth (unicusped condition). The function of the teeth is to catch and hold food which is swallowed as a whole and digested first in the stomach. Another typical characteristic is that non-mammalian vertebrates have continuous tooth replacement and renewal (polyphyodonty) throughout their lifespan. Teeth are added in two directions, to the back of the jaw as the animal and the jaw are growing, and on the place of lost or damaged teeth between existing teeth. A common feature is that each replacement tooth is bigger than its predecessor tooth. This is in line with the mode of growth in non-mammalian vertebrates. They have no determinate adult size, but grow throughout their lifespan and thus the teeth have to meet these requirements (Osborn 1998).

The molecular mechanisms regulating non-mammalian vertebrate tooth development are very similar as in mammals. Moreover, it has been shown in the trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, that *Shh* and *Bmp4* are expressed in a similar way both in oral and pharyngeal teeth (Fraser et al. 2006). Interestingly, after initiation of tooth development *Pitx2* expression is downregulated in the trout posterior pharyngeal teeth, but not in the oral teeth, suggesting a possible function for *Pitx2* in an early tooth-commissioning role (Fraser et al. 2006). Inhibition of FGF signaling leads to arrest of zebrafish tooth development. *Pitx2* expression in the primary epithelial band is the first indication of tooth development. However, inhibition of FGF signaling does not affect *Pitx2* expression, suggesting that the earliest steps of tooth development in zebrafish are FGF independent. *Fgf8* and *Fgf9* expression is not detected in zebrafish tooth germs. Also there is no *Pax9* expression (Jackman et al. 2004).

1.6.1 Mechanism of tooth replacement in non-mammalian vertebrates

The research of non-mammalian tooth replacement has been concentrating on two main issues, the patterns of tooth replacement and the developmental mechanisms of the replacement itself. Also the role and evolution of the dental lamina in replacement tooth generation has been studied in non-mammalian species. Replacement which occurs in waves that pass through alternate tooth positions in front to back directions is the most commonly suggested mechanism. The advantage of this is that a large region of the jaw is never devoid of teeth. This is shown in a reptile species *Lacerta viridis* (reviewed by Berkovitz 2000). However, in *Lacerta vivipara* no such pattern is detected and replacement is random (Osborn 1971). In *Alligator mississipiensis* there is evidence for alternation, but the overall sequence does not show perfect regularity (Westergaard and Ferguson 1990; Westergaard and Ferguson 1987). Successive replacement waves may show local variations leading to change of an existing pattern. Also the direction of the wave may vary. In many cases there are random patterns of tooth replacement, the randomness increasing with age (Berkovitz 2000). In zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) tooth replacement does not occur randomly, but follows a pattern in most cases (van der

Heyden et al. 2001). Factors controlling the replacement patterns are not known. It has been suggested that there is a field of morphogen gradients along the jaw that create the alternate replacement patterns or that there is a single cell mass, a clone, which initiate a tooth primordium (Osborn 1978). It has been suggested as part of the clone theory that there is a margin of inhibition surrounding the existing teeth, by the presence of new teeth, leading to alternate tooth replacement patterns (Osborn 1971). As it has recently been suggested that there is a link between the eruption of a tooth and the development of a successional lamina, indicating that tooth replacement is under local control (Huysseune 2006; Huysseune and Witten 2006), and as the results concerning tooth replacement patterns are so variable, it may be more informative to examine tooth replacement in individual tooth positions and not in a whole dentition.

In the common lizard Lacerta vivipara teeth arise from the free edge of dental lamina, which is connected to pre-existing teeth, and the dental lamina is reformed on the lingual side of the pre-existing teeth (Osborn 1971 and Figure 4). Also in zebrafish Danio rerio replacement tooth generation involves the formation of a successional dental lamina (Huysseune 2006). In zebrafish, amphibians and lizards the successional dental lamina is discontinuous and it disappears when the replacement tooth erupts. The successional lamina can remain quiescent for some time before the replacement tooth is initiated (Huysseune 2006). It has been proposed that the region differentiating to the successional lamina might contain a stem cell niche that regulates the replacement tooth formation (Huysseune and Thesleff 2004). However, there is no evidence for this from molecular or lineage tracing experiments. It has been proposed based on observation in salamander Pleurodeles waltl that tooth replacement is initiated in relation to a particular developmental step of the previous tooth (Davit-Beal et al. 2007; Davit-Beal et al. 2006) and that the upper region of the dental organ of the predecessor tooth has conserved the ability to differentiate into a successional dental lamina (Davit-Beal et al. 2007). However, there is no genetic information on the regulation of any of these events. There is not much information on the differential regulation of first generation teeth and the replacement teeth. The zebrafish Evel gene has been shown to be expressed in the epithelium during the inititation of the first generation but not during the second generation of teeth (Laurenti et al. 2004). Evel has not been reported to be expressed during mammalian tooth development. There are several studies where the molecular regulation of tooth number has been investigated in the mouse toothless diastema region. It has been shown that by alternating either Eda, BMP or FGF pathway it is possible to induce the generation of an extra tooth anterior to the first molar (Kangas et al. 2004,



Mustonen et al. 2003, Mustonen et al. 2004, Klein et al. 2006, Tucker et al. 2004, Kassai et al. 2007). It remains to be tested if these same molecules and pathways are involved in the regulation of tooth replacement. Taken together, it seems that the physiological mechanisms of

Figure 4. Tooth replacement in *Lacerta vivipara*, the common lizard. Replacement teeth arise from the free edge of the dental lamina lingual to the pre-existing teeth. (Schematic picture by Kalle Karinen, from Osborn 1971).

tooth replacement are fairly well understood, but there is only little information on the molecular regulation of tooth replacement or on the determination of the replacement patterns.

1.7. Tooth development in mammals

Mammalian teeth are morphologically heterodont, with multiple shapes. A typical mammalian dentition consists of incisor, canine, premolar, and molar teeth, with a species specific number of each tooth type. Incisors, the front teeth, are conical, unicusped teeth which are located most mesially. Canines are unicusped, but usually larger and sharper than incisors and they are located laterally to the incisors. Premolars and molars, the cheek teeth, belong to the post-canine tooth family and they have the most complicated morphology of multiple cusps (multicusped). The function of mammalian teeth is different from the non-mammalian vertebrate teeth. Upper and lower teeth have to meet to grind food smaller for easier digestion. Teeth with more cusps better serve this function. In evolution a small change in the amount of a specific gene, such as *Eda*, can alter the tooth shape as well as cusp and tooth number radically (Kangas et al. 2004). It has been shown by geographic information systems (GIS) analysis that the surface complexity of tooth crowns directly reflects the foods the animal consumes (Evans et al. 2007).

1.7.1 Tooth replacement in mammals

Mammals have two dentitions. They replace their teeth only once (diphyodont condition). The first set of teeth is called primary, deciduous or milk teeth. The second set of teeth is called secondary, successional, permanent, replacement or adult teeth. Incisors, canines and premolars are replaced, but molars are not replaced. Therefore the classification of molars has been difficult and controversial. Molars are sometimes considered to belong to the first generation of teeth as unreplaced members, as the primary premolars share morphological similarities with the molars. Or they are considered to belong to the second generation of teeth as they are never replaced in modern mammals. It has also been suggested that they should be considered as an entity of their own since they have no predecessors or successors (van Nievelt 2002).

The physiological mechanism of tooth replacement in various mammalian species has been described by many authors already during the 19th century (Leche 1895). However, these reports include only occasional hand drawn pictures of histological sections and as different authors have variable descriptions mostly in German, the replacement mechanism has stayed unclear. In the following I will present few selected central points from the earlier studies concerning the definition and origin of dental lamina and the mechanism of tooth replacement.

Some authors argued that the replacement tooth buds from the primary tooth. Some authors saw already in the primary dental lamina two buds, which later became the primary and the replacement tooth, and some stated that the replacement tooth develops from "superficial epithelial rests" of the dental lamina. According to Leche (1895), the most likely description is that the replacement tooth develops not from the previous tooth, but rather all teeth arise from the same primary dental lamina. There is a deep

end of the dental lamina, which is disconnected from the predecessor tooth, and which grows further down into the mesenchyme. The replacement tooth develops next to the predecessor tooth, to the lingual side. The whole disconnected dental lamina becomes part of the replacement tooth. The replacement tooth is connected to the dental lamina and partly to the enamel organ of the predecessor tooth (reviewed by Leche 1895). The replacement tooth generation has been cited in the modern textbooks as follows: "Also the permanent dentition arises from the dental lamina. The permanent tooth germs form as a result of further proliferative activity within the dental lamina at its deepest extremity. This increased proliferative activity leads to the formation of another tooth bud on the lingual aspect of the deciduous tooth germ" (Nanci 2007). This description leaves room for the imagination of the reader and shows that a detailed modern study of the mechanism of tooth replacement is needed.

1.7.2 Diphyodonty in mammals

The reduction of tooth replacement from the polyphyodont condition of non-mammalian vertebrates to diphyodonty has been linked to the origin of other mammalian characteristics such as small jaw size, rapid growth to adult size, endothermy, formation of hair and glands, lactation, shift to dentary squamosal articulation/middle ear ossicles, changes in the pharynx and oral cavity, mastication, precise occlusion, precise jaw movements and complex cheek teeth (van Nievelt 2002).

A link between dental development and lactation of mammals has been proposed by many authors (Luckett 1985; van Nievelt 2002). It is possible that the mammary line and dental lamina has been initiated at the same evolutionary time period. It is intriguing to think that the same signals might regulate the formation of both structures, and the initiation of both the mammary and dental placodes. Indeed, it has been shown that similar molecular mechanisms are involved. It has been demonstrated that Wnt, BMP, Ectodysplasin and FGF signaling is needed for both processes (Mikkola 2007). Formation of mammary line is dependent on Wnt and FGF signaling (Chu et al. 2004; Hens and Wysolmerski 2005). There are several reports on the requirement of Wnt signaling in the initiation of mammary placodes. The formation of mammary placodes within the mammary line requires Wnt signals (Eblaghie et al. 2004; Veltmaat et al. 2004). Mice overexpressing Dkk1 lack mammary placodes (Chu et al. 2004). Later it was shown that Wnt signaling is required only for the formation of placodes 2 and 3, but not for the initiation of placodes 1, 4 and 5, therefore suggesting differential regulation and identity for different placodes. However, also the three latter placodes need Wnt signaling for the progression of placode development (Boras-Granic et al. 2006). The placodes are thought to form from cell movements within the mammary line (Chu et al. 2004). Ectodysplasin signaling is involved in the formation of mammary placodes. When there is ectopically induced Eda in the epithelium, enlarged and supernumerary mammary placodes form (Mustonen et al. 2004). Eda signaling might thus direct the positioning of the placode or/and promote placode formation. Interestingly, the supernumerary placodes form only along the milk line and near the existing placodes, suggesting that the action of Eda signaling is downstream of the specification of the mammary line. Also the supernumerary teeth arise only along the dental lamina (Kangas et al. 2004; Mustonen et al. 2004; Klein et al. 2006)

1.7.3 Variable tooth replacement patterns

Tooth replacement is reduced in evolution leading to considerable variation in tooth replacement patterns in mammals. Functional replacement takes place when both generations of teeth erupt. Non-functional replacement takes place when the first generation of teeth does not erupt, but its development has been initiated. Usually these rudiments disappear before mineralization. An exception is the seals (*Phocidae*), where the rudimentary teeth mineralize, do erupt, but are shed during embryogenesis (Stewart and Stewart 1987). I will give examples of various replacement patterns in selected mammalian species. Most primates, including humans, have functionally diphyodont teeth. Humans and many domestic animals, cows (Bos taurus), sheep (Ovis aries), and goats (*Capra hircus*), display a primitive pattern of functional tooth replacement, the full replacement of incisors, canines and premolars (Getty 1975). Some Soricidae, such as shrews, lost all functional replacement and have non-functional primary teeth, but functional replacement teeth (Kindahl 1959). It was shown that there is non-functional replacement in all tooth positions excluding the molars (Kindahl 1959). Sometimes even inside the same family there is plenty of variation. In the *Mustelidae* there are three different possibilites: primitive eutherian full replacement in the tayra (*Eira barbara*) and in the ferret (Mustela putorius), the loss of most functional replacement at the incisor loci in some other weasels (Mustela), even the loss of all functional replacement in the striped skunk (Mephitis mephitis). The general trend in weasels is to lose all functional lower deciduous incisors and one or two pairs of functional central upper deciduous incisors and to have functionally diphyodont canines and premolars (Habermehl and Röttcher 1967; Moshonkin 1979). Other examples where functional replacement have been reduced only either in canine or premolar positions, but retained in other positions and the horse (Equus caballus) has lost functional replacement in the canines, and Myotis *lucifugus*, the little brown bat and *Urothrichus talpoides*, japanese shrew mole have lost some of the functional replacement in the premolars but retain incisor and canine replacement (Hanamura et al. 1988; Getty 1975; Fenton 1970). Muroid rodents, such as the mouse (Mus musculus) have lost all tooth replacement. Also tooth number is reduced during evolution and mouse contain only incisor and three molars in each jaw quadrant. A sciurid rodent Spermophilus parryi, the squirrel, has a second incisor that develops only until the early cap stage and not further. This is an example of an animal that has a primary tooth developing, but the secondary tooth is rudimentary/non-functional (Luckett 1985). This suggests that mouse incisors may belong to primary dentition. Sorex araneus represents an opposite case, where the primary tooth is suppressed and non-functional, but the secondary tooth develops and is functional (Kindahl 1959). It is not easy to define which tooth generation is left in the jaw. In the dog the debate has been going on for over a century. There is only one generation of teeth in dog premolar 1 position and there is evidence both for it being a deciduous tooth or the permanent tooth (Williams and Evans 1978). Also in the pig (Sus scrofa domesticus) there is only one generation of P1. However, this information is based only on eruption data (Getty 1975). Taken together, there is great variation in tooth replacement patterns in mammals and a tendency to lose replacement during evolution. Evolutionary reduction of tooth replacement is demonstrated by the number of rudimentary teeth and non-functional replacement in various species. The different replacement patterns are indicative of the precise adaptation of different species.

1.7.4 Continuously growing mouse incisor

Rodents have a large sharp lower incisor in each half of the mandible. A labial-lingual asymmetry in the distribution of enamel keeps the cutting edges of the incisors sharp and the wear is compensated by continuous growth. There is an epithelial stem cell compartment in the cervical loop (Harada et al. 1999). These stem cells differentiate into ameloblasts, the enamel forming cells. It has been shown that follistatin regulates the enamel patterning by asymmetrically inhibiting BMP signaling and ameloblast differentiation in the lingual cervical loop (Wang et al. 2004b). Stem cell proliferation in the cervical loop is controlled by spatial regulation of BMP, FGF, Activin and Follistatin in a complex regulatory network (Wang et al. 2007). The continuously growing mouse and rabbit incisors do not undergo functional replacement (Moss-Salentijn 1978).

Species	Common name	Replacement	Reference			
Homo sapiens	human	I, C, P full replacement	(Nanci 2007)			
Bos taurus	cow	I, C, P full replacement	(Getty 1975)			
Ovis aries	sheep	I, C, P full replacement	(Getty 1975)			
Capra hircus	goat	I, C, P full replacement	(Getty 1975)			
Canis familiaris	domestic dog	I, C, P, full replacement, but in P1 no replacement	(Evans 1993)			
Sus scrofa domesticus	domestic pig	P1 no replacement	(Getty 1975)			
Mustela lutreola	European mink	I partly, C and P full replacement	(Moshonkin 1979)			
Mustela putorius	polecat, ferret	I, C and P full replacement	(Habermehl and Röttcher 1957), (Berkovitz 1973)			
Mephitis mephitis	striped skunk	non- functional replacement in I, C, P	(Verts 1967)			
Sorex araneus	common shrew	no functional replacement, non- functional replacement in I, C, P	(Kindahl 1959)			
Equus caballus	horse	I, P full replacement, C no replacement	(Getty 1975)			
Urotrichus talpoides	Japanese shrew mole	I, C, P, but dp2 no replacement	(Hanamura 1988)			
Myotis lucifugus	little brown bat	I, C full replacement	(Fenton 1970)			
Spermophilus parryi	squirrel	P, full replacement	(Mitchell and Carsen 1967)			
Mus musculus	mouse	no replacement, continously growing lower I	(Moss-Salentijn 1978)			

Table 1. Tooth replacement patterns in selected mammalian species. I =incisor, C=canine, P=premolar

1.8 Mutations affecting tooth number and tooth renewal in humans

Congenitally missing permanent teeth are found in 8% of the population world wide. The most commonly missing teeth are those that develop as last teeth in the different tooth families. Second premolars and upper lateral incisors are thus most often affected. The genes behind this common incisor-premolar hypodontia are not known. Oligodontia, tooth agenesis with more than six missing teeth, is rarer and there are few single gene mutations known to cause this aberration. Supernumerary teeth are less common than developmentally missing teeth. An upper incisor is the most common extra tooth. Multiple supernumerary teeth appear as symptoms in some syndromes.

1.8.1. Mutations causing supernumerary teeth

There are only two known mutations causing supernumerary teeth in human. Mutations in the Runt domain transcription factor *Runx2* (Aml3, Cbfa1, Osf2, Pebp2 α A) gene in humans and mice, leads to bone and tooth defects. In humans this autosomal dominant syndrome is called cleidocranial dysplasia. These patients show bone defects and supernumerary teeth (Otto et al. 1997; Mundlos et al. 1997; Jensen and Kreiborg 1990). Interestingly in humans, the primary tooth development is normal, but tooth renewal is not inhibited after the formation of the permanent dentition. These patients also show defects in the eruption of the secondary dentition. In homozygous null-mutant mice the disruption of *Runx2* gene leads to complete loss of bone, and tooth development is arrested at the bud stage (Åberg et al. 2004). Heterozygous mice are similar to wild type mice and show no bone defects. However, sometimes there is an extra lingual tooth bud in the upper molar, and it shows *Shh* expression (Wang et al. 2005). These results indicate that Runx2 is needed both in the formation of the primary dentition and in tooth renewal and that the amount of Runx2 is important.

Autosomal dominant germline mutations in *APC* cause familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and its variant the Gardner syndrome (Groden et al. 1991). Gardner syndrome is characterized by dental abnormalities including impacted or supernumerary teeth and compound odontomas (Gardner 1962; Fader et al. 1962; Wolf et al. 1986). *APC* is a tumor suppressor gene associated with the stabilization of β -catenin. Loss of APC leads to increased Wnt signaling causing supernumerary teeth, aberrant hair placode initiation and hair follicle growth in mice (Kuraguchi et al. 2006).

1.8.2. Mutations causing missing teeth

Heterozygous loss of function of the transcription factor *Pax9* causes oligodontia (agenesis of several teeth) in human (Stockton et al. 2000). The primary dentition is normal. Molars are the most affected teeth. Sometimes also some premolars and incisors are missing in the permanent dentition. In *Pax9* null allele mice tooth development stops at the bud stage before the transition to the cap (Peters et al. 1998). It has been shown that FGFs induce *Pax9*. Reduction of *Pax9* gene dosage causes different levels of oligodontia in mice (Kist et al. 2005).

Heterozygous loss of function of transcription factor *Msx1* causes tooth agenesis in human. Affected individuals are reported to have normal primary dentition and the most affected teeth are from the permanent dentition. Premolars and molars are most affected (Vastardis et al. 1996). In *Msx* null allele mice tooth development arrests at bud stage, before the mesenchymal condensation. BMP and FGF induce *Msx1* (Chen et al. 1996;

Bei and Maas 1998). In *Msx1:Msx2* double mutant tooth development stops even earlier, at the lamina stage (Bei and Maas 1998). Mutations in the intracellular Wnt inhibitor *Axin2* lead to severe tooth agenesis in human. Permanent dentition is severely affected, and only sometimes a tooth is missing in the primary dentition. These mutations also predispose to colorectal cancer (Lammi et al. 2004).

1.8.3 Ectodermal dysplasias with tooth phenotypes

Ectodermal dysplasias are congenital defects where the development of two or more ectodermal organs is abnormal. Most common organs affected are hairs and teeth. Mutations in the *Ectodysplasin (Eda)* gene cause X-linked hypohidrotic (anhidrotic) ectodermal dysplasia (HED, EDA) leading to defects including the absence of several primary and permanent teeth, delayed primary and permanent dentition, conical tooth crown, sparse and fine hair, premature male balding and the lack of sweat glands (Kere et al. 1996; Headon and Overbeek 1999). When either the ligand Eda, the receptor Edar or the death domain intracellular effector Edaradd are knocked out in mice, the mice display symptoms of the dysplasia (Mikkola and Thesleff 2003). In 20% of *Eda* null allele mice third molars are missing. Sometimes also the incisors are lacking. The crowns of the first molars show a malformed shape. *Eda* null allele mice also lack first wave of hair follicles and have defects in many glands (Mikkola 2007).

Mutations in the transcription factor p63 of the p53 family, lead to Ectrodactyly-Ectodermal Dysplasia-Clefting (EEC) syndrome characterized by multiple missing and misshapen teeth, and by defects in the skin (Celli et al. 1999). p63 null allele mice lack all ectodermal organs (Mills et al. 1999). In the mutant mice tooth development is arrested prior the placode stage. However, the primary epithelial band is present, but placodes fail to form (Laurikkala et al. 2006).

A homozygous nonsense mutation in exon3 of *Wnt10a* gene leads to premature truncated protein causing an autosomal recessive ectodermal dysplasia syndrome affecting teeth and hair. These patients have severe hypodontia in the permanent dentition and the primary teeth are peg-shaped. They show also hair and skin defects and reduction of taste papillae (Adaimy et al. 2007).

l epithelium.
0.e. = 0.a
id mouse
human an
п
l renewal
h number and
ing toot
s affect
d gene
Defects and
Table 2.

Cano	Tuno of nuctoin	Tooth dofoot	Tune of mutation	Ouconicm	Dofounand
nelle	Type of protein		type of mutation	Urgamsm	References
ActivinβA	TGFB family ligand	Arrest at the bud stage (not upper molars)	KO	Mouse	(Matzuk et al. 1995)
APC	What family member,	Gardner's syndrome	Autosomal	Human	(Fader et al. 1962; Gardner
	Intracemular enjector	Supernumerary teeth	dominant TG, K14 o.e.	Mouse	1902; Wolf et al. 1980) (Kuraguchi et al. 2006)
Axin2	Intracellular Wnt	Tooth agenesis	Autosomal	Human	(Lammi et al. 2004)
	antagonist	No aborotrao	dominant	Mana	Thermone of al . mean-blichad)
Bmprla	TGFB family receptor	Arrest at bud stage	TG. K14 o.e.	Mouse	(Andl et al. 2004)
Dlx I; Dlx 2	Transcription factor	Arrest of upper tooth de-	KO	Mouse	(Thomas et al. 1997)
		velopment at the placode stage			
Dkk	Soluble extracellular Wnt antagonist	Arrest at the bud stage	TG, K14 o.e.	Mouse	(Andl et al. 2002)
Eda	TNFR superfamily	Tooth number reduced	X-linked	Human	(Kere 1996, Headon and
	member ligand		translocation		Överbeek, 1999)
			Natural mutant	Mouse	(Srivastava et al. 1997)
Eda	TNFR superfamily member ligand	Extra molar	TG, K14 o.e.	Mouse	(Mustonen et al. 2003)
Edar	TNFR superfamily member receptor	Tooth number reduced	Natural mutant	Mouse	(Tucker et al. 2000)
Edar	TNFR superfamily member recentor	Changes in tooth number	TG, K14 o.e.	Mouse	(Pispa et al. 2004)
Fgf8	FGF ligand	Loss of molars	KO	Mouse	(Trumpp et al. 1999)
Follistatin	TGFB Family ligand	Loss of M3	K14 o.e	Mouse	(Wang et al. 2004)
Fgfr2b	FGF receptor	Arrest at the bud stage	KO	Mouse	(De Moerlooze et al. 2000)
Gli2;Gli3	Transcription factor	Arrest at the bud stage	KO	Mouse	(Hardcastle et al. 1998)
Lefl	Transcription factor	Arrest at the bud stage	KO	Mouse	(van Genderen et al. 1994)
MsxI	Transcription factor	Tooth agenesis	Autosomal	Human	(Vastardis et al. 1996)
		A	dominant		
0 1 1 2 1		Allest at the lamina stage	NO.	MUUSE	(Clien et al. 1990)
MSX1;MSX2	Iranscription factor	Arrest at the lamina stage	KU	Mouse	(Bet and Maas 1998)

50
E.
Ξ
Ē
Ē
5
2
e
q
Ta

												 		_		_		_		_		_		_		_
(Plikus et al. 2005)	(Stockton et al. 2000; Peters et	al. 1998)		(Celli et al. 1999; Laurikkala et	al. 2006)		(Jensen and Kreiborg 1990;	Otto et al. 1997; Mundlos et al.	1997; D'Souza et al. 1999)	(Semina et al. 1996; Lin et al.	1999; Lu et al. 1999)				(ten Berge et al. 1998)		(Kassai et al. 2005)		(Klein et al. 2006)		(Klein et al. 2006)		(Bamshad et al. 1997)		(Adaimy et al. 2007)	
Mouse	Human		Mouse	Human		Mouse	Human		Mouse	Human		Mouse			Mouse		Mouse		Mouse		Mouse		Human		Human	
TG, K14 o.e.	Autosomal	dominant	KO	Autosomal	dominant	KO	Autosomal domi-	nant	KO	Autosomal domi-	nant	KO			KO		KO		KO		KO		Autosomal	dominant	Autosomal	recessive
Loss of M3	Tooth agenesis		Arrest at bud stage	EEC syndrome	Tooth number		Supernumerary teeth		Arrest at bud stage	Rieger syndrome,	missing teeth	Arrest at the bud stage	upper, at the placode	stage lower	Lower incisors arrested	at bud stage	Extra incisor, extra molar		Extra molar		Extra molar		Agenesis of canines		Tooth agenesis	
TGFB family ligand	Transcription factor			p53 family transcription	factor		Runt-domain	transcription factor		Transcription factor					Transcription factor		TGF ^β family soluble	inhibitor	FGF intracellular	Inhibitor	FGF intracellular	inhibitor	T-box family	transcription factor	Wnt ligand	
Noggin	Pax9			p63	1		Runx2			Pitx2					Prx1;Prx2		Sostdc1		Sprouty 2		Sprouty 4		Tbx3		Wnt10a	

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of this thesis work was to find a model animal for tooth replacement studies and to study the mechanisms and molecular regulation of tooth replacement. The specific aims were:

- 1. To search for downstream targets of *Runx2* and investigate its role in signaling during tooth development
- 2. To study the role of Wnt signaling in tooth renewal using transgenic mice with continuously activated β-catenin in the dental epithelium and mesenchyme
- 3. To study tooth replacement and its evolutionary loss in *Sorex araneus*, the common shrew
- 4. To study tooth replacement and its molecular regulation in *Mustela putorius furo*, the ferret

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Mouse strains

Strain	Used in article	Purpose
Runx2	Ι	Search of downstream targets
β -cat $\Delta^{ex3K14/+}$	II	Activation of β -catenin in the dental epithelium under the
		keratin 14 promoter
BATgal	II	Wnt reporter analysis
Rosa26	II	LacZ reporter analysis
Nude	II	Kidney capsule transplantation experiments

3.2 Probes

The following probes were used for *in situ* hybridization.

Probe	Reference	Used in article
Ameloblastin	(Wang et al. 2004b)	II
Dkk1	(Andl et al. 2002)	I, II
Dspp	(James et al. 2006)	II
Dusp6	(James et al. 2006)	Ι
Edar	(Laurikkala et al. 2001)	II
Enpp1	(James et al. 2006)	Ι
Fgf3	(Kettunen et al. 2000)	II
Fgf4	(Jernvall et al. 1994)	II
Igfbp3	(James et al. 2006)	Ι
<i>p21</i>	(Jernvall et al. 1998)	II
Lefl	(Kratochwil et al. 2002)	II
Runx2	(D'Souza et al. 1999)	I, II
Shh	(Vaahtokari et al. 1996)	II, IV
Sostdc1	(Laurikkala et al. 2003b)	II, IV
Suncus-Shh	(Ogi et al. 2002)	III
Wnt10b	(Sarkar and Sharpe 1999)	II

3.3. Methods used in articles I-IV

Method	Article
Cloning of genes	Ι
Tissue culture and bead experiments	I, II
Radioactive in situ hybridization on sections	I, II, III, IV
Digoxigenin <i>in situ</i> hybridization on sections	IV
Whole mount in situ hybridization	I, II, IV
Immunohistochemistry	II
LacZ staining	II
Collection of the Sorex araneus samples	III
Stageing of the Sorex araneus samples	III
Histology of Sorex araneus samples	III
Collection of the Mustela putorius samples	IV
Histology of Mustela putorius samples	IV
Cloning of Mustela putorius specific Axin2	IV

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Downstream targets of *Runx2* in tooth development (I)

We searched for downstream targets of *Runx2* and analyzed signaling pathway networks. Runx2 is a Runt domain transcription factor known to regulate tooth development at the bud to cap stage transition. In Runx2 null allele mice tooth development stops at the late bud stage, no enamel knot is formed and the tooth does not continue morphogenesis (D'Souza 1999). To investigate the downstream targets of Runx2, we used Affymetrix microarray chips to compare expression patterns in E14 mutant and wild type mandibles. The tissue dissected for the analysis contained the epithelium and the mesenchyme of the first molars and the surrounding osteogenic mesenchyme. In the screen we found 50 downregulated and 13 upregulated genes in Runx2 mutant tissue compared to the wild type. Of the downregulated genes, genes of interest were selected and radioactive in situ hybridization analysis was conducted to verify the microarray results. The expression patterns of these genes were investigated first in the wild type sections. Some of the selected genes were found to be expressed in developing bone and some in developing tooth. Dkk1, Enpp1, Igfbp3 and Dusp6 were all expressed in the dental mesenchyme at E14. The expression patterns of all these genes were overlapping with Runx2, and Dusp6 was expressed also in dental epithelium. The expression pattern of Dkk1 was interesting as it showed a half-moon like expression at the outer side of the dental papilla mesenchyme but was absent from the vicinity of the epithelium and enamel knot (I Fig. 1). In Runx2 null allele E14 sections all four genes were completely absent from dental mesenchyme. Also Dusp6 expression in the epithelium was missing at E14 in the mutant.

To study the regulation of these genes, tissue culture experiments with agarose beads were conducted. Wild type and mutant tooth germs at E14 stage were dissected and the epithelium and mesenchyme were separated. Separated mesenchyme was cultured with FGF4 or control BSA beads (see methods in article I). The expression of target genes was checked by whole mount *in situ* hybridization. FGF stimulated the expression of all four genes in the wild type mesenchyme (I Fig. 1). I asked if *Runx2* is needed for this stimulation and therefore I cultured similarly mutant mesenchyme with FGF4 or control beads and checked the expression of the target genes. Interestingly, *Dkk1* stimulation by FGF4 was significantly reduced in *Runx2* null allele mesenchyme. All the other genes including *Enpp1*, *Dusp6* and *Igfbp3* continued to be stimulated by FGF4 is *Runx2* dependent, and *Dkk1* may be a direct target of *Runx2*, and that *Runx2* is not necessary for the stimulation of *Enpp1*, *Dusp6* and *Igfbp3* by FGF4. Shh and BMP4 releasing beads had no effect on the target genes in wild type or mutant mesenchyme.

Similar experiments were conducted for the Runx2 target genes in developing bone of the mandible. We showed that some of them, including Dkk1, were induced by BMP4, but not FGF4. It was shown that Dkk1 induction by BMP4 in developing bone is Runx2 dependent at E12, but independent at E11 (I Fig. 2). These results show that the expression of Dkk1 by Runx2 is regulated by different signaling pathways in different tissues, the FGF pathway in the tooth and the BMP pathway in the developing bone, and the requirement of Runx2 is stage dependent.

Our results point a role for *Runx2* in various signaling pathways. As *Dkk1* is a Wnt antagonist, these results indicate that *Runx2* and the Wnt signaling pathways are connected. The Runx2 downregulation leads to a missing Wnt antagonist in the mesenchyme, suggesting an upregulated Wnt signaling in the mesenchyme. The end result of Runx2 downregulation is arrested tooth development. Therefore the possible upregulation of Wnt signaling in the mesenchyme may play a role in the progress of tooth development. Moreover, Dkk1 was induced by FGF4, and the induction was *Runx2* dependent. This is in line with the earlier results where *Runx2* was shown to be induced by FGF4 (Åberg et al. 2004; D'Souza et al. 1999). FGFs from the enamel knot may regulate Dkk1 in the mesenchyme through Runx2. Runx2 would thus combine the FGF and Wnt pathways and mediate the reciprocal signaling between the epithelium and mesenchyme. An interesting question we have not been able to answer yet is: what is inhibiting *Dkk1* in the proximity of the dental epithelium during normal tooth development? If Dkk1 was not inhibited, its expression might expand closer to the epithelium leading to inhibition of Wnt signaling. Whether the possible downregulation of Wnt signaling in dental mesenchyme would lead to an opposite situation (i.e. increased tooth formation) as in the *Runx2* mutant, or not, is highly speculative and needs more investigation.

Wnt signaling and *Runx2* have both been connected with the primary tooth development and also with tooth replacement. The gene networks regulating tooth replacement are presumably complex, and more investigation is needed on determining the interactions between regulatory genes and on the possible role of other signaling pathways. In this transgenic mouse model it was not possible to address the role of *Runx2* in tooth replacement. However, it may be speculated that similar gene networks would regulate also the replacement tooth generation and thus point a role for *Runx2*, FGF and Wnt signaling also in tooth replacement.

4.2 Wnt signaling in tooth renewal (II and unpublished)

It has been previously shown that Wnt signaling is involved in tooth replacement in humans (Lammi et al. 2004). I therefore wanted to further study the role of Wnt signaling in tooth development by using transgenic mouse models. B-catenin was stabilized in oral- and dental epithelium by crossing β -catenin-flox-ex3 mice to K14cre mice. The phenotype of the created β -cat^{dex3fl/+} mice was analyzed by investigation of histological sections. It was noticed that the normal tooth morphogenesis was disrupted at an early stage. Instead of a transition to a cap stage tooth, the tooth bud at E14 showed irregular shape. At E16 the irregular shape was even more evident: there were multiple epithelial protrusions into the mesenchyme (II Fig. 1). Wnt activity was analyzed by crossing the β -cat^{Δ ex3fl/+} mice with Wnt reporter BATgal mice (see methods in II). In wild type tooth Wnt activity was detected by LacZ staining in the enamel knot, but in the triple mutant, multiple LacZ positive spots in the tooth forming area were observed (II Fig. 1 and unpublished). This suggested that even if β -catenin was stabilized throughout the epithelium, Wnt signaling was active only in specific spots. This may be due to the requirement of other Wnt pathway molecules, such as Lef1/Tcf1 transcription factors, for the activation of the pathway or due to inhibitory mechanisms. Extensive in situ hybridization analysis with multiple enamel knot markers were performed and it was

noticed that all analyzed enamel knot markers were expressed in the same spots as the Wnt activity seen in β -cat^{Aex3fl/+}; BATgal mice. These markers included Shh, Epiprofin, Edar, Wnt10a and Axin2 (II Fig. 2 and unpublished results). This suggested that multiple enamel knots were formed. Multiple enamel knots were found already at E13 and as the tooth bud expanded in size, new enamel knots were forming. Sostdc1 (Ectodin) expression was surrounding these enamel knots similarly as in the wild type tooth. As Shh expressing dots were detected along the oral epithelium, I used Fgf3 as a marker for tooth forming area (Kettunen et al. 2000). Fgf3 was observed only in the tooth forming region indicating that the Shh dots in the oral epithelium marked ectopic ectodermal placodes of other epithelial appendages in addition to the teeth (II Fig. 2). Taken together, these results showed that stabilization of β -catenin leads to the formation of multiple enamel knots which exhibit active Wnt signaling. Enamel knots were formed only in the tooth forming oral region, which apparently had been specified at an earlier stage.

As the β -cat^{Δ ex3fl/+} mice die for unknown reason before birth at around E18, I used a kidney capsule transplantation method to study the further development of the mutant tooth. When a normal wild type molar is cultured under kidney capsule for three weeks, all three mouse molars develop. However, when I cultured one β -cat^{Aex3fl/+} mutant tooth germ for three weeks, 42 individual teeth formed (II Fig. 3). The teeth were inside a structure resembling a geode, with their cusps towards the inside and the roots pressed at the roof of the geode, towards the outside. The ends of the roots were seen as circles on the outer surface. The whole structure was almost half the size of the mouse kidney. Interestingly all teeth had differentiated tooth structures, enamel, dentin and the forming roots. However, most teeth were unicusped and conical and resembled more nonmammalian vertebrate than mouse teeth. The largest teeth were about the size of the mouse third molar. As it was not possible to follow the development of these teeth, but only the end result. I placed a mutant and a wild type E14 tooth germ into tissue culture conditions and followed the development under stereomicroscope for 11 days. The wild type tooth germ developed into the first and second molars. The mutant tooth germ formed ca. 10 individual small tooth buds in a circle. I dissected two of them into a subculture and followed similarly their development for about three weeks. New tooth buds formed from the pre-existing teeth. Altogether five additional new tooth germs formed sequentially (II Fig. 4). The mode of this tooth renewal resembled the generation of non-mammalian vertebrate replacement teeth. Activator-inhibitor mechanisms have been suggested to regulate the formation of enamel knots (Salazar-Ciudad et al. 2002). A mathematical model was used to predict the enamel knot pattern. The multiple enamel knot phenotype could be reproduced by only raising the intrinsic amount of the activator β -catenin. These results suggest that β -catenin is an upstream activator of the signals leading to the formation of enamel knots (II Fig. 5). In conclusion, continuous activation of β-catenin in dental epithelium leads to continuous tooth generation. Continuous tooth generation involves the iterative formation of ectopic signaling centers, enamel knots. Enamel knot activation and lateral inhibition, where the enamel knots inhibit each other, are the key mechanisms. The mode of tooth renewal in the β -cat^{Δ ex3fl/+} mutant resembles the formation of teeth in non-mammalian vertebrates. It can be speculated that Wnt signaling was involved in evolution as the shape of mammalian teeth became more complex, and at the same time the tooth renewal capacity was reduced.

However, the phenotype of stimulated tooth renewal in β -cat^{Δ ex3fl/+} mice seemed contradictory to that of the human syndrome where heterozygotic loss of the Wnt inhibitor Axin2 leads to tooth agenesis (Lammi et al. 2004). I asked why in the mouse activated Wnt signaling in the epithelium leads to more teeth and on the other hand activated Wnt signaling in humans leads to loss of teeth? The expression of Axin2 was compared between β -cat^{Aex3fl/+} and wild type sections. Axin2 expression is thought to indicate active Wnt signaling (Clevers 2006). On the other hand it is a Wnt antagonist. In the wild type Axin2 is expressed in the enamel knot and in the mesenchyme (Lammi et al. 2004). In β -cat^{Aex3fl/+} there was strong expression in the enamel knots, but evidently downregulated or absent expression in the mesenchyme (unpublished results). This suggested that when Wnt signaling is activated in the epithelium, it may need to be downregulated in the mesenchyme in order to the new teeth to form. Thus there might be differential requirements of Wnt signaling in epithelium and mesenchyme. My hypothesis thus was that when Wnt signaling is activated in epithelium, tooth renewal is activated, but when Wnt is upregulated in mesenchyme, tooth renewal is inhibited. I tested the activation of Wnt signaling in dental mesenchyme by conditional stabilization of β -catenin in dental mesenchyme under the Dermol-Cre promoter. The promoter starts to function at E9,5 in dental mesenchyme, therefore the construct has enough time to be activated in order to affect the initiation of tooth development at E11. However, DermolCre-Flox-ex3- β -catenin mice died around E12.5 due to unknown reasons, and it was not possible to follow tooth development further in vivo. Also I noticed that at E12,5 the tissue started to loose its conformation and no dental placodes were detected in histological sections. Therefore I transplanted E11,5 dental tissue under the kidney capsule for three weeks. Both the wild type control and the mesenchymally Wnt activated tissue formed normal molars and incisors (unpublished results). I expected to see reduction of tooth development, but these results indicate that ectopic activation of Wnt signaling in dental mesenchyme does not reduce tooth development and the contradictory phenotypes of β -cat^{Aex3fl/+} mice and Axin2 humans may be explained by other reasons. However, it is possible that the conditional construct $DermolCre-Flox-ex3-\beta$ -catenin may not function in every cell or that the construct itself has some unknown side effects. Also it cannot be ruled out that the molar development in mice is different from the permanent tooth development in human, and the molecular networks regulating these two events may be different. Also the molecular mechanism leading to continuous tooth renewal and tooth replacement may be different. Therefore I wanted to analyze the replacement tooth generation closer in other animal models.

4.3 The shrew *Sorex araneus* as a model for evolutionary loss of tooth replacement (III)

We decided to use *Sorex araneus*, the common shrew, as a model to study the evolutionary loss of tooth replacement. Previously it has been shown that *Sorex araneus* has non-functional tooth replacement in some antemolar tooth positions (Ärnbäck Christie-Linde 1912; Kindahl 1959). Shrew embryos were obtained by catching pregnant females in the wild and they were staged by the length (Methods III). Embryos ranging from 7.5 mm to 12mm were attained representing a series covering five embryonic stages where development of all tooth positions was observed. In the limb buds of the 7.5mm embryo

the early separation of digits was detected, and the appearance of the embryo resembled the mouse E13 stage. Histological and molecular analysis showed that only the primary premolar 4 (dP4) from the deciduous dentition reached the cap stage. No traits of other deciduous teeth in incisor, canine or premolar tooth loci were detected. The deciduous dP4 was in an early cap stage at the earliest analyzed stage at 7.5 mm. At 9.0 mm dP4 was in a cap stage, but already at 12mm it had diminished in size and only a small spot was left. dP4 expressed Shh in the enamel knot and in the inner enamel epithelium at all stages. Shh expression was persisting even after dP4 had started to diminish in size and was detected still at the last stage at 12mm, when the Shh expression domain covered most of the remaining dP4 epithelia. The first indication of P4 was at the 9 mm stage, when a lingual epithelial protrusion into the mesenchyme was detected. Already at 7.5 mm dP4 bud was not symmetrical and the lingual cervical loop could be distinguished from the dP4 priori, by the differential orientation of cells. The true initiation time point for P4 thus was somewhere between 7,5 and 9,0 mm. The permanent premolar 4 (P4) was initiated before differentiation of dP4 cervical loop. At 9.0 mm the tip of P4 bud showed weak Shh expression in the early enamel knot. At later stages Shh was detected in the enamel knot and in the inner enamel epithelium of P4 (III Fig 1, 2, Figure 5.).

These results showed that there is non-functional replacement in the Sorex premolar 4 and that the development of the primary tooth is somehow suppressed. We asked, what is the mechanism of dP4 suppression? We compared the relative growth of teeth and asked whether these produce a "double-wedge" pattern of replacement used to infer competitive replacement (Krause 1986). There are two possible modes, internal suppression and suppression by replacement. Internal suppression takes place when the replacement tooth is initiated after the deciduous tooth has started to diminish in size. Suppression by replacement takes place when the replacement tooth is initiated coincidentally with the onset of deciduous tooth size reduction. We calculated the relative growth rates of dP4, P4 and M1 by measuring the size of the tooth from six embryonic stages. dP4 was growing until the stage 7.5 mm, and then suddenly started to diminish in size. At the same time P4 was initiated. The growth of P4 was very fast. These results indicate that the replacement tooth starts to inhibit dP4 as soon as it is initiated. As the growth rates of both permanent teeth, P4 and M1 were similar, the disappearing dP4 did not interfere with P4 growth rate. However, when the dynamics of the Shh expression domains were similarly calculated, it was noticed that relative expansion of



Figure 5. Schematic representation of the deciduous and replacement tooth development in the shrew. *Shh* expression is shown in red.

Shh expression domain in P4 was slower than in M1, suggesting that indeed, dP4 might inhibit P4 development. On the other hand, the onset of decrease in dP4 *Shh* expression domain happened as soon as P4 *Shh* expression was first upregulated. This supports the notion that dP4 is suppressed by its replacement tooth (Figure 6.).

I showed previously that tooth renewal requires activating signals (II). Moreover, it has been shown that adjacent molars inhibit the initiation and size of more posterior molars (Kavanagh et al. 2007). Thus, both activating signals and inhibition mechanisms may play a role in the tooth replacement in the *Sorex* premolar 4 locus. However, the fast appearance of P4 begins to inhibit dP4 that then fails to proceed beyond the cap stage. Thus the evolutionary suppression of deciduous teeth may involve early activation of replacement teeth, which in turn begin to suppress their deciduous predecessors. Our



results indicate that *Shh* may not be the molecule responsible for triggering the suppression of dP4, but it is required for the growth and survival of developing teeth. The molecular networks responsible for tooth replacement and its evolutionary reduction remain to be determined.

Figure 6. Growth rates of the dP4 and P4 suggest that P4 inhibits the further development of dP4.

4.4 The ferret *Mustela putorius furo* as a model animal for mammalian tooth replacement (IV and unpublished)

Since neither the mouse nor the shrew was an optimal model for studying the mechanisms of tooth replacement, they were investigated in *Mustela putorius furo*, the ferret. Although tooth replacement has been studied earlier in ferrets as well as many other mammalian species (Berkovitz 1973; Leche 1895; Luckett 1993), the developmental mechanisms have stayed unclear. Ferret samples were collected at embryonic stages E34, E35 and E37 and at PN2 (length of the gestation is 42 days). We used serial histological sections and 3D imaging techniques to analyze the physiological mechanisms of replacement tooth generation. In premolars the deciduous tooth reaches the bell stage before the replacement tooth is initiated. The first sign of replacement tooth initiation is the detachment of the successional dental lamina from the lingual cervical loop of the deciduous tooth. In frontal histological sections this is seen as a small bud (IV Fig 2), which apparently has lead to the common misunderstanding that the replacement tooth would bud off the primary tooth. However, I followed the process carefully by analyzing serial sections and showed that the bud is actually a wall of successional dental lamina detaching from the primary tooth. Only later, at stage PN2 this detached dental lamina starts to develop the replacement tooth. This process was illustrated in 3D reconstructions of serial histological sections (IV Fig 3). I conclude that the replacement tooth generation is a two step process, involving the detachment

and growth of the dental lamina and the budding of the newly formed free space on the lamina. However, in the canine (C) tooth position, the deciduous tooth stays connected with the dental lamina until both generations of teeth reach the differentiation stage (IV Fig. 2). This shows that the detachment of the primary tooth is not a prerequisite for the initiation of the replacement tooth and that different tooth families show different modes of development. I analyzed the expression of several molecular markers. Shh expression was similar in both generations of teeth and in all tooth loci, suggesting that the molecular regulation of tooth morphogenesis in different tooth families and both tooth generations are similar. This has been shown earlier also in the shrew (III), (Yamanaka et al. 2007). The Wnt/BMP inhibitor Sostdc1 null allele mice have extra incisors and molars, and the molars show malformed shapes (Kassai et al. 2005). Sostdc1 is expressed in mouse molar mesenchyme and epithelium (Laurikkala et al. 2003). However, in the ferret it was expressed in the intersection of the detaching dental lamina and the cervical loop of the deciduous tooth, and on the buccal aspect of the cervical loop in inter-tooth sections. The restricted expression pattern of *Sostdc1* in the ferret suggests that *Sostdc1* may play a role in the process of detachment. No apoptosis was detected in the area of detachment, suggesting that it is merely a process of separation and growth that leads to the final detachment of the primary tooth. Of special interest was the expression pattern of Axin2, as Axin2 has been shown to be involved in tooth replacement in human (Lammi et al. 2004), but no tooth phenotype was detected in mouse (unpublished results). Mice do not have tooth replacement and it was anticipated that the generation of primary and replacement tooth generation may show differences in relation to Axin2 expression. Thus ferret specific Axin2 was cloned and the expression pattern was analyzed (unpublished results). Ferret-Axin2 was expressed in dental mesenchyme and enamel knot in both generations of teeth. There was also expression in the mesenchyme surrounding the dental lamina in inter-tooth regions, supporting the hypothesis that Wnt signaling needs to be suppressed in the mesenchyme to enable tooth formation. However, the preliminary results from the expression patterns do not indicate a role for Axin2 in the detachment or the budding process of the replacement teeth and the regulatory role of Axin2 in tooth replacement remains to be investigated.

Mechanisms of molar development were also investigated in ferret embryos. We noticed that M1 develops from a deep dental lamina, posterior to dP4. The first sign of M1 is a buccal bud on the dental lamina. The enamel knot forms on the dental lamina and the buccal bud grows deeper into the mesenchyme and forms the buccal cervical loop. The dental lamina becomes the lingual cervical loop (IV Fig. 2, 3).

The origin of the dental lamina and the development of deciduous teeth were investigated. I analyzed the primary epithelial band in oral epithelium, and noticed that it grows together with the developing tooth buds into the underlying mesenchyme. Only later, when this structure is seen deeper in the mesenchyme and is detaching from the primary teeth, I call this structure the dental lamina. [This distinction between the primary epithelial band and the dental lamina was first introduced already in the 19th century (Leche 1895), but has been forgotten since.] As molecular markers are now available, *Shh* expression was analyzed in the developing ferret jaws at stages E22, E24 and E25 to identify the initial tooth buds. *Shh* expression was seen in three distinct spots (IV Fig. 1). These were identified as incisor, canine and premolar and named tooth-

family placodes. These initial tooth-family placodes then bud new tooth buds both in anterio and posterio directions (IV Fig. 1, 5 and Figure 7.).

In conclusion, there are three modes of tooth generation. The primary teeth form from the primary epithelial band of oral epithelium. Replacement teeth form from the dental lamina which detaches from the lingual cervical loop of the deciduous teeth. And molars develop by budding from the posterior dental lamina. The molecular mechanisms regulating the morphogenesis in all three developmental modes seem to be similar based on the gene expression data. However, the molecular networks regulating these events remain to be revealed. There is evidence from my results and previous work (Kavanagh et al, 2007) that activator -inhibitor mechanisms regulate the initiation of the new tooth buds. It is intriguing to speculate that the role of activation of Wnt signaling in the epithelium and possibly the inhibition of Wnt signaling in the mesenchyme would play a pivotal role in the activation of new teeth. However, the optimal method to address this question would be to reproduce the Axin2 mutation in an animal model with replacement tooth generation, by creating e.g. transgenic ferrets for Axin2. However, this may prove to be too challenging, and therefore in vitro studies with transgenic mouse tissues and expression analysis may prove to be more suitable methods. Also the potential role of other signaling pathways, such as Hh, FGF and BMP remains to be tested.



Figure 7. Formation of tooth family placodes and tooth buds on the primary epithelial band.

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

This thesis work has brought new insight into the mechanisms and molecules regulating tooth renewal and tooth replacement. I have showed that Wnt signaling stimulates enamel knot formation and that it regulates tooth renewal as part of a lateral inhibition mechanism (II). I have showed in the ferret that the primary tooth detaches from the dental lamina, prior to the development of the replacement tooth from the successional dental lamina (IV). Similar features were detected in the *in vitro* cultures of the β -cat^{dex3fl/+} teeth (II), when the developing teeth were separated from the previously formed teeth, as new additional teeth were generated. These examples further support the observations that lateral inhibition is one of the key mechanisms in new tooth formation. Moreover, as it has been shown in molar development (Kavanagh et al. 2007), and as I showed for the repression of tooth replacement in the shrew, the pre-existing teeth suppress the formation of new teeth.

The molecular mechanism whereby the successional dental lamina is activated to form the replacement tooth is not known at present. It can be speculated that the dental lamina has an intrinsic and lasting ability to form new teeth when the inhibition (the pre-existing tooth) is removed or that there is an activating signal, either in the dental lamina, in the primary tooth or in the surrounding mesenchyme. The suggestion that it would be merely a release of an inhibition, may not be true, as similar free dental lamina can be seen above the molar teeth in the ferret, and molars do not have successors. In addition, I showed that β -catenin acts as an activator of the signaling leading to the formation of enamel knots and of new tooth generation, indicating that activating systems may be needed. The molecular signal networks involved in the activator-inhibitor models remain to be revealed. The contradictory phenotypes of Axin2 human tooth agenesis and the β -cat^{dex3fl/+} transgenic mouse supernumerary teeth indicate that there may be differential regulation in epithelial and mesenchymal tissues. In human it is not known in which tissue Axin2 function is required, but from the mouse studies it can be concluded that when Wnt signaling is activated in dental epithelium, new teeth are formed. This suggests that to gain the opposite effect in human, Axin2 function should be missing in the mesenchyme thus leading to activated Wnt signaling in the mesenchyme. However, our mouse studies with activated Wnt signaling in the mesenchyme did not support this view, but the conditional transgenic approach may have some drawbacks and this question should thus be addressed more thoroughly by molecular and genetic analyses as other factors may also be involved. However, as mice do not normally replace teeth, it is not a good model for replacement tooth studies. My results on the ferret tooth development showed that there are distinct differences between the physiological mechanisms of tooth replacement, the formation of the first generation teeth on primary epithelial band and the sequential formation of molar teeth. However, my gene expression studies and others have shown that the same signaling molecule families are involved in all these modes (Yamanaka et al. 2007; Miyado et al. 2007). However, these signals may possibly be under differential regulation. Also it has to be noted that tooth renewal and tooth replacement might not be regulated similarly thus leaving the question of the role of Wnt signaling in tooth replacement open for future studies. There is no experimental evidence on the connection between Runx2 and Axin2 in tooth development and it

should thus be further investigated. In the future the results from the different animal models and human syndromes need to be combined and the molecular networks of tooth replacement and renewal mechanisms revealed. This may require new transgenic mouse models and further genetic studies on those model animals that replace teeth. The information gained from the studies on tooth development brings new insight into our understanding on how organisms are generated and how evolution occurs. Moreover, the knowledge on the regulation of embryonic tooth development and the mechanisms of tooth replacement may be of use in regenerative medicine, in tissue engineering of organs and in understanding the genetic mechanisms behind heritable diseases, possibly leading to medical applications.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Institute of Biotechnology, University of Helsinki, under the supervision of Professor Irma Thesleff. I am deeply grateful to Irma for her supervision and for creating an excellent and stimulating atmosphere in the lab. I am thankful for her open-mindedness and for giving me the freedom to think and work, which has lead to a real joy to do science. I greatly appreciate the knowledge that I have gained. I enjoyed every moment. Thank you.

I warmly thank Professor Jukka Jernvall for his supervision and for being in my follow-up group, for the stimulating scientific discussions, the inspiration and the enthusiasm he has shared. I am grateful to Professor Mart Saarma, director of the Institute of Biotechnology for providing excellent working conditions. I warmly thank Docent Kirsi Sainio for being in my follow-up group, for lively scientific discussions and for reviewing this thesis. I warmly thank Professor David Rice for reviewing this thesis. I wish to thank Docent Marja Mikkola for scientific discussions and advice and for her helpfulness.

I want to thank all Thesleff and Jernvall group members for creating a friendly and stimulating atmosphere in the lab. I thank Pauliina Munne, Marika Suomalainen and Enni Penttilä for lunchbreaks and for friendship in- and outside the lab. I thank Marja Pummila for sharing fun moments. I want to thank Mark Tummers for sharing the office and for scientific discussions. I want to thank Katja Närhi for collaboration and friendship. I also thank Maria Jussila, Sylvie Lefvebre, Frederic "Mitch" Michon, Toshiyuki Yoshida, Maria Voutilainen and Otso Häärä. I want to thank the former Thesleff group members Martyn James, Johanna Laurikkala, Tuija Mustonen, Thomas Åberg and Ingrid Fliniaux for advice and friendship.

I am grateful to Kaisa Välimäki for showing how to dig holes and for friendship. I am thankful to Roxana Ola for bringing light to my life, romanian style. I warmly thank Nina Perälä for discussions and for sharing enthusiasm in outdoor sports. I thank Laura Lahti for companionship in meetings and courses.

I wish to thank Riikka Santalahti for valuable technical help and lively discussions in the tissue culture room and in the lab. I am grateful to Merja Mäkinen, Raija Savolainen and Heidi Rimaaja for excellent technical help. Without your help I would still be stuck in the lab.

I also thank the Helsinki Graduate School in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology for providing financial support and for organizing courses and seminars. I also thank Kulttuurirahasto and Paulon Säätiö for financial support.

I want to thank all my friends and family for supporting the progress of this thesis work. I want to thank my oldest and dearest friend Karoliina "Kakku" Franck for her friendship, for always being there for me and for making me laugh. I want to thank my friend Minna Stern for being my friend, for advice, for listening and for fun. I want to thank my dear friend Sari Multamäki for sharing thoughts and friendship. I also want to thank my friends Reeta Kaitosaari, Heini Naukkarinen, Heli Narko, Kaarina Haaparinne and Anna Kähärä for friendship. I am grateful to Pekka Vienola for support.

I want to thank my father for support, and for always encouraging me to "study and to study a bit more", which in the end led to the realization of this thesis. I want to thank my mother and my brothers Ville and Onni for being there for me.

REFERENCES

Adaimy, L., Chouery, E., Megarbane, H., Mroueh, S., Delague, V., Nicolas, E., Belguith, H., de Mazancourt, P. and Megarbane, A. 2007. Mutation in WNT10A is associated with an autosomal recessive ectodermal dysplasia: The odonto-onycho-dermal dysplasia. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 81: 821-828.

Alcamo, I. E. 1996. The roots of DNA research. In: Sievers, E. M. (ed.) *DNA technology the awesome skill*, pp. 1-19. Wm.C.Brown publishers, Dubuque.

Andl, T., Ahn, K., Kairo, A., Chu, E. Y., Wine-Lee, L., Reddy, S. T., Croft, N. J., Cebra-Thomas, J. A., Metzger, D., Chambon, P., Lyons, K. M., Mishina, Y., Seykora, J. T., Crenshaw, E. B. and Millar, S. E. 2004. Epithelial Bmpr1a regulates differentiation and proliferation in postnatal hair follicles and is essential for tooth development. *Development* 131: 2257-2268.

Andl, T., Reddy, S. T., Gaddapara T and Millar, S. E. 2002. WNT signals are required for the initiation of hair follicle development. *Dev. Cell* 2: 643-653.

Ashique, A. M., Fu, K. and Richman, J. M. 2002. Signalling via type IA and type IB bone morphogenetic protein receptors (BMPR) regulates intramembranous bone formation, chondrogenesis and feather formation in the chicken embryo. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 46: 243-253.

Balemans, W. and Van Hul, W. 2002. Extracellular regulation of BMP signaling in vertebrates: a cocktail of modulators. *Dev. Biol.* 250: 231-250.

Bamshad, M., Lin, R. C., Law, D. J., Watkins, W. S., Krakowiak, P. A., Moore, M. E., Franceschini, P., Lala, R., Holmes, L. B., Gebuhr, T. C., Bruneau, B. G., Schinzel, A., Seidman, J. G., Seidman, C. E. and Jorde, L. B. 1997. Mutations in human TBX3 alter limb, apocrine and genital development in ulnar-mammary syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* 16: 311-315.

Bei, M. and Maas, R. 1998. FGFs and BMP4 induce both Msx1-independent and Msx1-dependent signaling pathways in early tooth development. *Development* 125: 4325-4333.

Berkovitz, B. K. 1973. Tooth Development in Albino Ferret (Mustela-Putorius) with Special Reference to Permanent Carnassial. *Arch. Oral. Biol.* 18: 465-471.

Berkovitz, B. K. 2000. Tooth replacement patterns in non-mammalian vertebrates. In: Teaford, M. F., Smith, M. M. & Ferguson, M. W. J. (eds.) *Development, function and evolution of teeth*, pp. 189-200. Cambridge University Press., Cambridge.

Boras-Granic, K., Chang, H., Grosschedl, R. and Hamel, P. A. 2006. Lef1 is required for the transition of Wnt signaling from mesenchymal to epithelial cells in the mouse embryonic mammary gland. *Developmental Biology* 295: 219-231.

Botchkarev, V. A., Botchkareva, N. V., Roth, W., Nakamura, M., Chen, L. H., Herzog, W., Lindner, G., McMahon, J. A., Peters, C., Lauster, McMahon, A. P. and Paus, R. 1999. Noggin is a mesenchymally derived stimulator of hair-follicle induction. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 1: 158-164.

Bray, S. J. 2006. Notch signalling: a simple pathway becomes complex. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 7: 678-689.

Brembeck, F. H., Rosario, M. and Birchmeier, W. 2006. Balancing cell adhesion and Wnt signaling, the key role of beta-catenin. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 16: 51-59.

Butler, P. M. 1956. The ontogeny of molar pattern. Biol Rev 31: 30-70.

Celli, J., Duijf, P., Hamel, B. C. J., Bamshad, M., Kramer, B., Smits, A. P. T., Newbury-Ecob, R., Hennekam, R. C. M., Van Buggenhout, G., van Haeringen, B., Woods, CG, van Essen, A. J., de Waal, R., Vriend, G., Haber, D. A., Yang, A., McKeon, F., Brunner, H. G. and van Bokhoven, H. 1999. Heterozygous germline mutations in the p53 homolog p63 are the cause of EEC syndrome. *Cell* 99: 143-153.

Chen, C. W. J., Jung, H. S., Jiang, T. X. and Chuong, C. M. 1997. Asymmetric expression of Notch/Delta/Serrate is associated with the anterior-posterior axis of feather buds. *Dev. Biol.* 188: 181-187.

Chen, Y., Bei, M., Woo, I., Satokata, I. and Maas, R. 1996. Msx1 controls inductive signaling in mammalian tooth morphogenesis. *Development* 122: 3035-3044.

Chiang, C., Swan, R. Z., Grachtchouk, M., Bolinger, M., Litingtung, Robertson, E. K., Cooper, M. K., Gaffield, W., Westphal, H., Beachy, P. A. and Dlugosz, A.A. 1999. Essential role for Sonic hedgehog during hair follicle morphogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 205: 1-9.

Chu, E. Y., Hens, J., Andl, T., Kairo, A., Yamaguchi, T. P., Brisken, C., Glick, A., Wysolmerski, J. J. and Millar, S. E. 2004. Canonical WNT signaling promotes mammary placode development and is essential for initiation of mammary gland morphogenesis. *Development* 131: 4819-4829.

Chuong, C. M., Patel, N., Lin, J., Jung, H. S. and Widelitz, R. B. 2000. Sonic hedgehog signaling pathway in vertebrate epithelial appendage morphogenesis: perspectives in development and evolution. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 57: 1672-1681.

Clevers, H. 2006. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell 127: 469-480.

D'Souza, R. N., Åberg, T., Gaikwad, J., Cavender, A., Owen, M., Karsenty, G. and Thesleff, I. 1999. Cbfa1 is required for epithelial-mesenchymal interactions regulating tooth development in mice. *Development* 126: 2911-2920.

Dassule, H. R., Lewis, P., Bei, M., Maas, R. and McMahon, A. P. 2000. Sonic hedgehog regulates growth and morphogenesis of the tooth. *Development* 127: 4775-4785.

Dassule, H. R. and McMahon, A. P. 1998. Analysis of epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in the initial morphogenesis of the mammalian tooth. *Dev. Biol.* 202: 215-227.

Davit-Beal, T., Allizard, F. and Sire, J. Y. 2006. Morphological variations in a tooth family through ontogeny in Pleurodeles waltl (Lissamphibia, Caudata). *Journal of Morphology* 267: 1048-1065.

Davit-Beal, T., Chisaka, H., Delgado, S. and Sire, J. Y. 2007. Amphibian teeth: current knowledge, unanswered questions, and some directions for future research. *Biological Reviews* 82: 49-81.

De Moerlooze, L., Spencer-Dene, B., Revest, J., Hajihosseini, M., Rosewell, I. and Dickson, C. 2000. An important role for the IIIb isoform of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 (FGFR2) in mesenchymal-epithelial signalling during mouse organogenesis. *Development* 127: 483-492.

Duboule, D. and Dolle, P. 1989. The structural and functional organization of the murine HOX gene family resembles that of Drosophila homeotic genes. *EMBO J.* 8: 1497-1505.

Eblaghie, M. C., Song, S. J., Kim, J. Y., Akita, K., Tickle, C. and Jung, H. S. 2004. Interactions between FGF and Wnt signals and Tbx3 gene expression in mammary gland initiation in mouse embryos. *Journal of Anatomy* 205: 1-13.

Estrach, S., Ambler, C. A., Lo, C. C., Hozumi, K. and Watt, F. M. 2006. Jagged 1 is a beta-catenin target gene required for ectopic hair follicle formation in adult epidermis. *Development* 133: 4427-4438.

Evans, A. R., Wilson, G. P., Fortelius, M. and Jernvall, J. 2007. High-level similarity of dentitions in carnivorans and rodents. *Nature* 445: 78-81.

Fader M., Kline, S. N., Spatz, S. S., Zubrow, H. J. and Pittsburgh, P. 1962. Gardner's syndrome (intestinal polyposis, osteomas, sebaceous cysts) and a new dental discovery. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 15: 153-172.

Fenton, M. B. 1970. The deciduous dentition and its replacement in *Myotis lucifugus* (Chiroptera: Vespertilionidae). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 48: 817-820.

Ferguson, C. A., Tucker, A. S., Christensen, L., Lau, A. L., Matzuk, M. M. and Sharpe, P. T. 1998. Activin is an essential early mesenchymal signal in tooth development that is required for patterning of the murine dentition. *Genes Dev.* 12: 2636-2649.

Fiuza, U. M. and Arias, A. M. 2007. Cell and molecular biology of Notch. J. Endocrinol. 194: 459-474.

Fjeld, K., Kettunen, P., Furmanek, T., Kvinnsland, I. H. and Luukko, K. 2005. Dynamic expression of Wnt signaling-related Dickkopf1, -2, and -3 mRNAs in the developing mouse tooth. *Dev. Dyn.* 233: 161-166.

Fraser, G. J., Berkovitz, B. K., Graham, A. and Smith, M. M. 2006. Gene deployment for tooth replacement in the rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss): a developmental model for evolution of the osteichthyan dentition. *Evolution & Development* 8: 446-457.

Gallego, M. I., Beachy, P. A., Hennighausen, L. and Robinson, G. W. 2002. Differential requirements for shh in mammary tissue and hair follicle morphogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 249: 131-139.

Gardner, J. E. 1962. Follow-up study of a family group exhibiting dominant inheritance for a syndrome including intestinal polyps, osteomas, fibromas and epidermal cysts. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 14: 376-390.

Gat, U., DasGupta, R., Degenstein, L. and Fuchs, E. 1998. De novo hair follicle morphogenesis and hair tumors in mice expressing a truncated beta-catenin in skin. *Cell* 95: 605-614.

Getty, R. 1975. The anatomy of the domestic animals. W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia.

Gilbert, S. 2006. Developmental biology: The anatomical tradition. *in Developmental Biology*, pp. 3-23. Sinauer Associates Inc, Sunderland.

Graham, A., Papalopulu, N. and Krumlauf, R. 1989. The murine and Drosophila homeobox gene complexes have common features of organization and expression. *Cell* 57: 367-378.

Gritli-Linde, A., Bei, M., Maas, R., Zhang, X. M., Linde, A. and McMahon, A. P. 2002. Shh signaling within the dental epithelium is necessary for cell proliferation, growth and polarization. *Development* 129: 5323-5337.

Groden, J., Thliveris, A., Samowitz, W., Carlson, M., Gelbert, L., Albertsen, H., Joslyn, G., Stevens, J., Spirio, L., Robertson, M., Sargeant, L., Krapcho, K., Wolff, E., Burt, R., Hughes, J. P., Warrington, J., Mcpherson, J., Wasmuth, J., Lepaslier, D., Abderrahim, H., Cohen, D., Leppert, M. and White, R. 1991. Identification and Characterization of the Familial Adenomatous Polyposis-Coli Gene. *Cell* 66: 589-600.

Habermehl, K. H. and Röttcher, D. 1967. Die Möglichkeiten der Altersbestimmung beim Marder und Iltis. *Zeitschrift für Jagdwissenschaft* 13: 89-102.

Hacohen, N., Kramer, S., Sutherland, D., Hiromi, Y. and Krasnow, M. A. 1998. sprouty encodes a novel antagonist of FGF signaling that patterns apical branching of the Drosophila airways. *Cell* 92: 253-263.

Hanamura, H., Uematsu, Y. and Setoguchi, T. 1988. Replacement of the 1St Premolars in Japanese Shrew-Moles (Talpidae, Insectivora). *Journal of Mammalogy* 69: 135-138.

Harada, H., Kettunen, P., Jung, H. S., Mustonen, T., Wang, Y. A. and Thesleff, I. 1999. Localization of putative stem cells in dental epithelium and their association with Notch and FGF signaling. *J. Cell Biol.* 147: 105-120.

Hardcastle, Z., Mo, R., Hui, C. C. and Sharpe, P. T. 1998. The shh signalling pathway in tooth development - defects in gli2 and gli3 mutants. *Development* 125: 2803-2811.

Hatsell, S. J. and Cowin, P. 2006. Gli3-mediated repression of Hedgehog targets is required for normal mammary development. *Development* 133: 3661-3670.

Headon, D. J. and Overbeek, P. A. 1999. Involvement of a novel TNF receptor homologue in hair follicle induction. *Nat. Genet.* 22: 370-374.

Hens, J. R. and Wysolmerski, J. J. 2005. Key stages in mammary gland development - Molecular mechanisms involved in the formation of the embryonic mammary gland. *Breast Cancer Research* 7: 220-224.

Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Erdmann, B., Cotsarelis, G. and Birchmeier, W. 2001. β -catenin controls hair follicle morphogenesis and stem cell differentiation in the skin. *Cell* 105: 533-545.

Huysseune, A. 2006. Formation of a successional dental lamina in the zebrafish (Danio rerio): support for a local control of replacement tooth initiation. *International Journal of Developmental Biology* 50: 637-643.

Huysseune, A. and Thesleff, I. 2004. Continuous tooth replacement: the possible involvement of epithelial stem cells. *Bioessays* 26: 665-671.

Huysseune, A. and Witten, P. E. 2006. Developmental mechanisms underlying tooth patterning in continuously replacing osteichthyan dentitions. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B-Molecular and Developmental Evolution* 306B: 204-215.

Jackman, W. R., Draper, B. W. and Stock, D. W. 2004. Fgf signaling is required for zebrafish tooth development. *Developmental Biology* 274: 139-157.

James, M. J., Jarvinen, E., Wang, X. P. and Thesleff, I. 2006. Different roles of Runx2 during early neural crest-derived bone and tooth development. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 21: 1034-1044.

Jenny, A. and Mlodzik, M. 2006. Planar cell polarity signaling: a common mechanism for cellular polarization. *Mt. Sinai J. Med.* 73: 738-750.

Jensen, B. L. and Kreiborg, S. 1990. Development of the dentition in cleidocranial dysplasia. *Journal of Oral Pathology and Medicine* 19: 89-93.

Jernvall, J., Åberg, T., Kettunen, P., Keränen, S. and Thesleff, I. 1998. The life history of an embryonic signaling center: BMP-4 induces p21 and is associated with apoptosis in the mouse tooth enamel knot. *Development* 125: 161-169.

Jernvall, J., Keranen, S. V. and Thesleff, I. 2000. Evolutionary modification of development in mammalian teeth: quantifying gene expression patterns and topography. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97: 14444-14448.

Jernvall, J., Kettunen, P., Karavanova, I., Martin, L. B. and Thesleff, I. 1994. Evidence for the role of the enamel knot as a control center in mammalian tooth cusp formation: non-dividing cells express growth stimulating Fgf-4 gene. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 38: 463-469.

Jho, E. H., Zhang, T., Domon, C., Joo, C. K., Freund, J. N. and Costantini, F. 2002. Wnt/betacatenin/Tcf signaling induces the transcription of Axin2, a negative regulator of the signaling pathway. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 22: 1172-1183.

Jung, H. S., Francis-West, P. H., Widelitz, R. B., Jiang, T. X., Ting-Berreth, S., Tickle, C., Wolpert, L. and Chuong, C. M. 1998. Local inhibitory action of BMPs and their relationships with activators in feather formation: implications for periodic patterning. *Dev. Biol.* 196: 11-23.

Kangas, A. T., Evans, A. R., Thesleff, I. and Jernvall, J. 2004. Nonindependence of mammalian dental characters. *Nature* 432: 211-214.

Kassai, Y., Munne, P., Hotta, Y., Penttila, E., Kavanagh, K., Ohbayashi, N., Takada, S., Thesleff, I., Jernvall, J. and Itoh, N. 2005. Regulation of mammalian tooth cusp patterning by ectodin. *Science* 309: 2067-2070.

Katoh, M. 2005. WNT/PCP signaling pathway and human cancer (review). *Oncol. Rep.* 14: 1583-1588.

Kavanagh, K. D., Evans, A. R. and Jernvall, J. 2007. Predicting evolutionary patterns of mammalian teeth from development. *Nature* 449: 427-432.

Kere, J., Srivastava, A. K., Montonen, O., Zonana, J., Thomas, N., Ferguson, B., Munoz, F., Morgan, D., Clarke, A., Baybayan, P., Chen, E. Y., Ezer, S., Saarialho-Kere, U., de la Chapelle, A. and Schlessinger, D. 1996. X-linked anhidrotic (hypohidrotic) ectodermal dysplasia is caused by mutation in a novel transmembrane protein. *Nat. Genet.* 13: 409-416.

Kettunen, P., Laurikkala, J., Itäranta, P., Vainio, S., Itoh, N. and Thesleff, I. 2000. Associations of FGF-3 and FGF-10 with signaling networks regulating tooth morphogenesis. *Dev. Dyn.* 219: 322-332.

Kindahl, M. 1959. Some aspects of the tooth development in soricidae. *Acta Odontol. Scand.* 17: 203-237.

Kist, R., Watson, M., Wang, X. M., Cairns, P., Miles, C., Reid, D. J. and Peters, H. 2005. Reduction of Pax9 gene dosage in an allelic series of mouse mutants causes hypodontia and oligodontia. *Human Molecular Genetics* 14: 3605-3617.

Klein, O. D., Minowada, G., Peterkova, R., Kangas, A., Yu, B. D., Lesot, H., Peterka, M., Jernvall, J. and Martin, G. R. 2006. Sprouty genes control diastema tooth development via bidirectional antagonism of epithelial-mesenchymal FGF signaling. *Dev. Cell* 11: 181-190.

Kollar, E. J. and Baird, G. R. 1970. Tissue interactions in embryonic mouse tooth germs. II. The inductive role of the dental papilla. *J. Embryol. exp. Morph.* 24: 173-186.

Kondo, S., Kuwahara, Y., Kondo, M., Naruse, K., Mitani, H., Wakamatsu, Y., Ozato, K., Asakawa, S., Shimizu, N. and Shima, A. 2001. The medaka rs-3 locus required for scale development encodes ectodysplasin-A receptor. *Curr. Biol.* 11: 1202-1206.

Kratochwil, K., Galceran, J., Tontsch, S., Roth, W. and Grosschedl, R. 2002. FGF4, a direct target of LEF1 and Wnt signaling, can rescue the arrest of tooth organogenesis in Lef1(-/-) mice. *Genes Dev.* 16: 3173-3185.

Kuraguchi, M., Wang, X. P., Bronson, R. T., Rothenberg, R., Ohene-Baah, N. Y., Lund, J. J., Kucherlapati, M., Maas, R. L. and Kucherlapati, R. 2006. Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) is required for normal development of skin and thymus. *Plos Genetics* 2: 1362-1374.

Lammi, L., Arte, S., Somer, M., Jarvinen, H., Lahermo, P., Thesleff, I., Pirinen, S. and Nieminen, P. 2004. Mutations in AXIN2 cause familial tooth agenesis and predispose to colorectal cancer. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 74: 1043-1050.

Laurenti, P., Thaeron, C., Allizard, F., Huysseune, A. and Sire, J. Y. 2004. Cellular expression of evel suggests its requirement for the differentiation of the ameloblasts and for the initiation and morphogenesis of the first tooth in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Developmental Dynamics* 230: 727-733.

Laurikkala, J., Kassai, Y., Pakkasjarvi, L., Thesleff, I. and Itoh, N. 2003a. Identification of a secreted BMP antagonist, ectodin, integrating BMP, FGF, and SHH signals from the tooth enamel knot. *Dev. Biol.* 264: 91-105.

Laurikkala, J., Mikkola, M., Mustonen, T., Åberg, T., Koppinen, P., Pispa, J., Nieminen, P., Galceran, J., Grosschedl, R. and Thesleff, I. 2001. TNF signaling via the ligand-receptor pair ectodysplasin and edar controls the function of epithelial signaling centers and is regulated by Wnt and activin during tooth organogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 229: 443-455.

Laurikkala, J., Mikkola, M. L., James, M., Tummers, M., Mills, A. A. and Thesleff, I. 2006. p63 regulates multiple signalling pathways required for ectodermal organogenesis and differentiation. *Development* 133: 1553-1563.

Laurikkala, J., Pispa, J., Jung, H. S., Nieminen, P., Mikkola, M., Wang, X., Saarialho-Kere, U., Galceran, J., Grosschedl, R. and Thesleff, I. 2002. Regulation of hair follicle development by the TNF signal ectodysplasin and its receptor Edar. *Development* 129: 2541-2553.

Leche, W. 1895. Zur Entwicklungsgeschichte des Zahnsystems der Säugethiere zugleich ein Beitrag zur Stammesgeschichte dieser Thiergruppe. *Bibliotheca Zoologica* 17.

Lin, C. R., Kioussi, C., O'Connell, S., Briata, P., Szeto, D., Liu, F., Izpisua-Belmonte, J. C. and Rosenfeld, M. G. 1999. Pitx2 regulates lung asymmetry, cardiac positioning and pituitary and tooth morphogenesis. *Nature* 401: 279-282.

Liu, G., Bafico, A. and Aaronson, S. A. 2005. The mechanism of endogenous receptor activation functionally distinguishes prototype canonical and noncanonical Wnts. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 25: 3475-3482.

Lo, C. C., Prowse, D. M. and Watt, F. M. 2004. Transient activation of beta-catenin signalling in adult mouse epidermis is sufficient to induce new hair follicles but continuous activation is required to maintain hair follicle tumours. *Development* 131: 1787-1799.

Logan, C. Y. and Nusse, R. 2004. The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 20: 781-810.

Lowry, W. E., Blanpain, C., Nowak, J. A., Guasch, G., Lewis, L. and Fuchs, E. 2005. Defining the impact of beta-catenin/Tcf transactivation on epithelial stem cells. *Genes Dev.* 19: 1596-1611.

Lu, M. F., Pressman, C., Dyer, R., Johnson, R. L. and Martin, J. F. 1999. Function of Rieger syndrome gene in left-right asymmetry and craniofacial development. *Nature* 401: 276-278.

Luckett, W. P. 1985. Superordinal and intraordinal affinities of rodents: developmental evidence from the dentition and placentation. In: Luckett, W. P. and Hartenberger, J.-L. (eds.) *Evolutionary relationships among rodents*, pp. 227-276. Plenum, New York.

Luckett, W. P. 1993. An Ontogenetic assessment of dental homologies in therian mammals. In: Szalay, F. S., Novacek, M. J. and McKenna, M. C. (eds.) *In: Mammal phylogeny: mesozoic differentiation, multituberculates, monotremes, early therians, and marsupials.*, pp. 182-204. Springer-Verlag., New York.

Lumsden, A. G. 1988. Spatial organization of the epithelium and the role of neural crest cells in the initiation of the mammalian tooth germ. *Development Suppl.* 103: 155-169.

Mandler, M. and Neubuser, A. 2004. FGF signaling is required for initiation of feather placode development. *Development* 131: 3333-3343.

Martinez, A. A. and Stewart, A. 2002. Towards a molecular analysis of development. *In Molecular principles of animal development*, pp. 1-18. Oxford University press, New York.

Massague, J. and Wotton, D. 2000. Transcriptional control by the TGF-beta/Smad signaling system. *EMBO J.* 19: 1745-1754.

Matzuk, M. M., Kumar, T. R. and Bradley, A. 1995. Different phenotypes for mice deficient in either activins or activin receptor type II. *Nature* 374: 356-360.

McMahon, A. P., Ingham, P. W. and Tabin, C. J. 2003. Developmental roles and clinical significance of hedgehog signaling. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 53: 1-114.

Michno, K., Boras-Granic, K., Mill, P., Hui, C. C. and Hamel, P. A. 2003. Shh expression is required for embryonic hair follicle but not mammary gland development. *Dev. Biol.* 264: 153-165.

Mikels, A. J. and Nusse, R. 2006. Purified Wnt5a protein activates or inhibits beta-catenin-TCF signaling depending on receptor context. *PLoS. Biol.* 4: e115.

Mikkola, M. L. 2007. Genetic basis of skin appendage development. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 18: 225-236.

Mikkola, M. L., Pispa, J., Pekkanen, M., Paulin, L., Nieminen, P., Kere, J. and Thesleff, I. 1999. Ectodysplasin, a protein required for epithelial morphogenesis, is a novel TNF homologue and promotes cell-matrix adhesion. *Mech. Dev.* 88: 133-146.

Mikkola, M. L. and Thesleff, I. 2003. Ectodysplasin signaling in development. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 14: 211-224.

Mills, A. A., Zheng, B. H., Wang, X. J., Vogel, H., Roop, D. R., Bradley and Abradley, A. 1999. p63 is a p53 homologue required for limb and epidermal morphogenesis. *Nature* 398: 708-713.

Mina, M. and Kollar, E. J. 1987. The induction of odontogenesis in non-dental mesenchyme combined with early murine mandibular arch epithelium. *Arch. Oral. Biol.* 32: 123-127.

Mitchell, O. G. and Carsen, C. A. 1967. Tooth eruption in the Arctic ground squirrel. *Journal of Mammalogy* 48: 472-474.

Mitsiadis, T. A., Hirsinger, E., Lendahl, U. and Goridis, C. 1998. Delta-notch signaling in odontogenesis: correlation with cytodifferentiation and evidence for feedback regulation. *Dev. Biol.* 204: 420-431.

Mitsiadis, T. A., Regaudiat, L. and Gridley, T. 2005. Role of the Notch signalling pathway in tooth morphogenesis. *Arch. Oral Biol.* 50: 137-140.

Miyado, M., Ogi, H., Yamada, G., Kitoh, J., Jogahara, T., Oda, S. I., Sato, I., Miyado, K. and Sunohara, M. 2007. Sonic hedgehog expression during early tooth development in Suncus murinus. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 363: 269-275.

Moshonkin, N. N. 1979. Formation of the dental system in the mink *Lutreola lutreola*. *Zoologicheskii Zhurnal* 58 : 1753-1756.

Moss-Salentijn, L. 1978. Vestigial teeth in the rabbit, rat and mouse; their relationship to the problem of lacteal dentitions. In: Butler, P. M. and Joysey, K. A. (eds.) *Development, function and evolution of teeth* Academic Press., London.

Mucchielli, M. L., Mitsiadis, T. A., Raffo, S., Brunet, J. F., Proust, J. P. and Goridis, C. 1997. Mouse Otlx2/RIEG expression in the odontogenic epithelium precedes tooth initiation and requires mesenchyme-derived signals for its maintenance. *Dev. Biol.* 189: 275-284.

Mundlos, S., Otto, F., Mundlos, C., Mulliken, J. B., Aylsworth, A. S., Albright, S., Lindhout, D., Cole, W. G., Henn, W., Knoll, J. H., Owen, M. J., Mertelsmann, R., Zabel, BU and Olsen, B. R. 1997. Mutations involving the transcription factor CBFA1 cause cleidocranial dysplasia. *Cell* 89: 773-779.

Mustonen, T., Ilmonen, M., Pummila, M., Kangas, A. T., Laurikkala, J., Jaatinen, R., Pispa, J., Gaide, O., Schneider, P., Thesleff, I. and Mikkola, M. L. 2004. Ectodysplasin A1 promotes placodal cell fate during early morphogenesis of ectodermal appendages. *Development* 131: 4907-4919.

Mustonen, T., Pispa, J., Mikkola, M. L., Pummila, M., Kangas, A. T., Jaatinen, R. and Thesleff, I. 2003. Stimulation of ectodermal organ development by ectodysplasin-A1. *Dev. Biol.* 259: 123-136.

Nanci, A. 2007. Ten Cate's Oral histology: Development, structure, and function Mosby Elsevier, St.Louis.

Närhi, K., Järvinen, E., Birchmeier, W., Taketo, M. M., Mikkola, M. L. and Thesleff, I. 2008. Sustained epithelial β -catenin activity induces precocious hair development but suppresses hair follicle down-growth and hair shaft formation. *Development*. 135: 1019-28.

Niemann, C., Owens, D. M., Hulsken, J., Birchmeier, W. and Watt, F. M. 2002. Expression of DeltaNLef1 in mouse epidermis results in differentiation of hair follicles into squamous epidermal cysts and formation of skin tumours. *Development* 129: 95-109.

Noramly, S., Freeman, A. and Morgan, B. A. 1999. beta-catenin signaling can initiate feather bud development. *Development* 126: 3509-3521.

Noramly, S. and Morgan, B. A. 1998. BMPs mediate lateral inhibition at successive stages in feather tract development. *Development* 125: 3775-3787.

Ogi, H., Tabata, M. J., Yamanaka, A., Asui, K. and Uemura, M. 2002. Comparison of expression patterns of fibroblast growth factor 8, bone morphogenetic protein 4 and sonic hedgehog in jaw development of the house shrew, Suncus murinus. *Cell Mol Biol* 48: 289-296.

Ornitz, D. M. 2000. FGFs, heparan sulfate and FGFRs: complex interactions essential for development. *Bioessays* 22: 108-112.

Osborn, J. W. 1971. The ontogeny of tooth succession in Lacerta vivipara Jacquin (1787). *Proc. R. Soc. Lond B Biol. Sci.* 179: 261-289.

Osborn, J. W. 1978. Morphogenetic gradients: fields versus clones. In: Butler, P. M. and Joysey, K. A. (eds.) *Development, Function and Evolution of Teeth*, pp. 171-201. Academic Press, New York.

Osborn, J. W. 1998. Relationship between growth and the pattern of tooth initiation in alligator embryos. *Journal of Dental Research* 77: 1730-1738.

Otto, F., Thornell, A. P., Crompton, T., Denzel, A., Gilmour, K. C., Rosewell, I. R., Stamp, G. W., Beddington, R. S., Mundlos, S., Olsen, B. R., Selby, P. B. and Owen, M. J. 1997. Cbfa1, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. *Cell* 89: 765-771.

Peters, H., Neubüser, A., Kratochwil, K. and Balling, R. 1998a. Pax9-deficient mice lack pharyngeal pouch derivatives and teeth and exhibit craniofacial and limb abnormalities. *Genes Dev.* 12: 2735-2747.

Pispa, J., Mustonen, T., Mikkola, M. L., Kangas, A. T., Koppinen, P., Lukinmaa, P. L., Jernvall, J. and Thesleff, I. 2004. Tooth patterning and enamel formation can be manipulated by misexpression of TNF receptor Edar. *Dev. Dyn.* 231: 432-440.

Pispa, J. and Thesleff, I. 2003. Mechanisms of ectodermal organogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 262: 195-205.

Plikus, M. V., Zeichner-David, M., Mayer, J. A., Reyna, J., Bringas, P., Thewissen, J. G. M., Snead, M. L., Chai, Y. and Chuong, C. M. 2005. Morphoregulation of teeth: modulating the number, size, shape and differentiation by tuning Bmp activity. *Evol. Dev.* 7: 440-457.

Pummila, M., Fliniaux, I., Jaatinen, R., James, M. J., Laurikkala, J., Schneider, P., Thesleff, I. and Mikkola, M. L. 2007. Ectodysplasin has a dual role in ectodermal organogenesis: inhibition of Bmp activity and induction of Shh expression. *Development* 134: 117-125.

Salazar-Ciudad, I. and Jernvall, J. 2002. A gene network model accounting for development and evolution of mammalian teeth. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99: 8116-8120.

Sarkar, L. and Sharpe, P. T. 1999. Expression of Wnt signalling pathway genes during tooth development. *Mech. Dev.* 85: 197-200.

Semina, E. V., Reiter, R., Leysens, N. J., Alward, W. L., Small, K. W., Datson, N. A., Siegel-Bartelt, J., Bierke-Nelson, D., Bitoun, P., Zabel, B. U., Carey, J. C., Murray, J. C., Alward, W. L. M., Datson, N. A. X. S. J., Bierkenelson, D., and Murray, J.C. 1996. Cloning and characterization of a novel bicoid-related homeobox transcription factor gene, RIEG, involved in Rieger syndrome. *Nat Genet* 14: 392-399.

Slusarski, D. C. and Pelegri, F. 2007. Calcium signaling in vertebrate embryonic patterning and morphogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 307: 1-13.

Song, H., Wang, Y. and Goetinck, P. F. 1996. Fibroblast growth factor 2 can replace ectodermal signaling for feather development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93: 10246-10249.

Srivastava, A. K., Pispa, J., Hartung, A. J., Du, Y., Ezer, S., Jenks, T., Shimada, T., Pekkanen, M., Mikkola, M. L., Ko, M. S., Thesleff, I., Kere, J. and Schlessinger, D. 1997. The Tabby phenotype is caused by mutation in a mouse homologue of the EDA gene that reveals novel mouse and human exons and encodes a protein (ectodysplasin-A) with collagenous domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 94: 13069-13074.

Stewart, R. E. A. and Stewart, B. E. 1987. Dental Ontogeny of Harp Seals, Phoca-Groenlandica. *Canadian Journal of Zoology-Revue Canadienne de Zoologie* 65: 1425-1434.

Stockton, D. W., Das, P., Goldenberg, M., D'Souza, R. N. and Patel, P. I. 2000. Mutation of PAX9 is associated with oligodontia. *Nat. Genet.* 24: 18-19.

Szebenyi, G. and Fallon, J. F. 1999. Fibroblast Growth Factors as Multifunctional Signaling Factors. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 185: 45-106.

Takeichi, M. 1995. Morphogenetic roles of classic cadherins. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 7: 619-627.

ten Berge, D., Brouwer, A., Korving, J., Martin, J. F. and Meijlink, F.1998. Prx1 and Prx2 in skeletogenesis: roles in the craniofacial region, inner ear and limbs. *Development* 125: 3831-3842.

Thesleff, I. 2003. Epithelial-mesenchymal signalling regulating tooth morphogenesis. *J. Cell Sci.* 116: 1647-1648.

Thomas, B. L. and Sharpe, P. T. 1998. Patterning of the murine dentition by homeobox genes. *Eur. J. Oral Sci.* 106: 48-54.

Thomas, B. L., Tucker, A. S., Qui, M., Ferguson, C. A., Hardcastle, Z., Rubenstein, J. L. R. and Sharpe, P. T. 1997. Role of Dlx-1 and Dlx-2 genes in patterning of the murine dentition. *Development* 124: 4811-4818.

Trumpp, A., Depew, M. J., Rubenstein, J. L., Bishop, J. M. and Martin, G. R. 1999. Cre-mediated gene inactivation demonstrates that FGF8 is required for cell survival and patterning of the first branchial arch. *Genes Dev.* 13: 3136-3148.

Tucker, A. S., Headon, D. J., Schneider, P., Ferguson, B. M., Overbeek, P., Tschopp, J. and Sharpe, P. T. 2000. Edar/Eda interactions regulate enamel knot formation in tooth morphogenesis. *Development* 127: 4691-4700.

Vaahtokari, A., Åberg, T. and Thesleff, I. 1996. Apoptosis in the developing tooth: association with an embryonic signaling center and suppression by EGF and FGF-4. *Development* 122: 121-129.

Van der heyden, C., Wautier, K. and Huysseune, A. 2001. Tooth succession in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Arch. Oral. Biol.* 46: 1051-1058.

van Genderen, C., Okamura, R. M., Farinas, I., Quo, R. G., Parslow, T. G., Bruhn, L. and Grosschedl, R. 1994. Development of several organs that require inductive epithelial-mesenchymal interactions is impaired in LEF-1- deficient mice. *Genes Dev.* 8: 2691-2703.

van Nievelt, A. F. H. Dental development in *Monodelphis domestica* (Marsupialia:Didelphidae) and the evolution of tooth replacement in mammals. 2002. Department of Biological Anthropology and Anatomy, Duke University. Thesis/Dissertation

Vastardis, H., Karimbux, N., Guthua, S. W., Seidman, J. G. and Seidman, C. E. 1996. A human MSX1 homeodomain missense mutation causes selective tooth agenesis. *Nat Genet* 13: 417-421.

Veltmaat, J. M., Van Veelen, W., Thiery, J. P. and Bellusci, S. 2004. Identification of the mammary line in mouse by Wnt10b expression. *Dev. Dyn.* 229: 349-356.

Wang, X. P., Aberg, T., James, M. J., Levanon, D., Groner, Y. and Thesleff, I. 2005. Runx2 (Cbfa1) inhibits Shh signaling in the lower but not upper molars of mouse embryos and prevents the budding of putative successional teeth. *Journal of Dental Research* 84: 138-143.

Wang, X. P., Suomalainen, M., Felszeghy, S., Zelarayan, L. C., Alonso, M. T., Plikus, M. V., Maas, R. L., Chuong, C. M., Schimmang, T. and Thesleff, I. 2007. An integrated gene regulatory network controls stem cell proliferation in teeth. *PLoS. Biol.* 5: e159.

Wang, X. P., Suomalainen, M., Jorgez, C. J., Matzuk, M. M., Wankell, M., Werner, S. and Thesleff, I. 2004a. Modulation of activin/bone morphogenetic protein signaling by follistatin is required for the morphogenesis of mouse molar teeth. *Dev. Dyn.* 231: 98-108.

Wang, X. P., Suomalainen, M., Jorgez, C. J., Matzuk, M. M., Werner, S. and Thesleff, I. 2004b. Follistatin regulates enamel patterning in mouse incisors by asymmetrically inhibiting BMP signaling and ameloblast differentiation. *Dev. Cell* 7: 719-730.

Westergaard, B. and Ferguson, M. W. J. 1987. Development of the Dentition in Alligator-Mississippiensis. Later Development in the Lower Jaws of Embryos, Hatchlings and Young Juveniles. *Journal of Zoology* 212: 191-222.

Westergaard, B. and Ferguson, M. W. J. 1990. Development of the Dentition in Alligator-Mississippiensis - Upper Jaw Dental and Craniofacial Development in Embryos, Hatchlings, and Young Juveniles, with A Comparison to Lower Jaw Development. *American Journal of Anatomy* 187: 393-421.

Widelitz, R. B., Jiang, T. X., Noveen, A., Chen, C. W. and Chuong, C. M. 1996. FGF induces new feather buds from developing avian skin. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 107: 797-803.

Wilkins, A. 2002. Evolution and embryology: A brief history of a complex pas de deux. *The evolution of developmental pathways.*, pp. 3-34. Sinauer Associates Inc, Sunderland.

Williams, R. C. and Evans, H. E. 1978. Prenatal Dental Development in Dog, Canis Familiaris - Chronology of Tooth Germ Formation and Calcification of Deciduous Teeth. *Zentralblatt fur Veterinarmedizin Reihe C-Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series C-Anatomia Histologia Embryologia* 7: 152-163.

Wodarz, A. and Nusse, R. 1998. Mechanisms of Wnt signaling in development. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 14: 59-88.

Wolf, J., Järvinen, H. J. and Hietanen, J. 1986. Gardners Dento-Maxillary Stigmas in Patients with Familial Adenomatosis Coli. *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery* 24: 410-416.

Yamanaka, A., Yasui, K., Sonomura, T. and Uemura, M. 2007. Development of heterodont dentition in house shrew (Suncus murinus). *Eur. J. Oral Sci.* 115: 433-440.

Yamashiro, T., Zheng, L., Shitaku, Y., Saito, M., Tsubakimoto, T., Takada, K., Takano-Yamamoto, T. and Thesleff, I. 2007. Wnt10a regulates dentin sialophosphoprotein mRNA expression and possibly links odontoblast differentiation and tooth morphogenesis. *Differentiation* 75: 452-462.

Zhou, P., Byrne, C., Jacobs, J. and Fuchs, E. 1995. Lymphoid enhancer factor 1 directs hair follicle patterning and epithelial cell fate. *Genes Dev.* 9: 700-713.

Åberg, T., Wang, X. P., Kim, J. H., Yamashiro, T., Bei, M., Rice, R., Ryoo, H. M. and Thesleff, I. 2004. Runx2 mediates FGF signaling from epithelium to mesenchyme during tooth morphogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 270: 76-93.